
Please note:  Certain or all items on this agenda may be recorded on tape 

 
Agenda compiled by: 
Governance Services 
Civic Hall 
LEEDS LS1 1UR 
Telephone No: 
 

 
Hannah Bailey 
 
 
 
247 4326 

Principal Scrutiny Adviser: 
Sharon Winfield 
Telephone No: 247 4707 
 
 

  Produced on Recycled Paper 

 
A 

 

 

 

SCRUTINY BOARD (NEIGHBOURHOODS AND HOUSING) 
 

 
Meeting to be held in The Civic Hall, Leeds on 
Wednesday, 11th October, 2006 at 10.00 am 

 
A pre-meeting will take place for ALL Members of the Board  

in a Committee Room at 9.30 am 
 

 
MEMBERSHIP 

 
Councillors 

 
J Akhtar - Gipton and Harehills 

S Armitage - Crossgates and 
Whinmoor 

D Atkinson - Bramley and 
Stanningley 

P Ewens - Hyde Park and 
Woodhouse 

R Finnigan - Morley North 

A Gabriel - Beeston and Holbeck 

G Hyde - Killingbeck and 
Seacroft 

M Phillips - Garforth and 
Swillington 

R Pryke (Chair) - Burmantofts and 
Richmond Hill 

M Rafique - Chapel Allerton 

D Schofield - Temple Newsam 

 
 

Public Document Pack



 

B 

A G E N D A 
 
 

Item 
No 

Ward/Equal 
Opportunities 

Item Not 
Open 

 Page 
No 

1   
 

  APPEALS AGAINST REFUSAL OF INSPECTION 
OF DOCUMENTS 
 
To consider any appeals in accordance with 
Procedure Rule 25 of the Access to Information 
Procedure Rules (in the event of an Appeal the 
press and public will be excluded.) 
 
 

 

2   
 

  EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC 
 
To identify items where resolutions may be moved 
to exclude the public. 
 
 

 

3   
 

  LATE ITEMS 
 
To identify items which have been admitted to the 
agenda by the Chair for consideration. 
 
(The special circumstances shall be specified in 
the minutes.) 
 
 

 

4   
 

  DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 
 
To declare any personal / prejudicial interests for 
the purpose of Section 81 (3) of the Local 
Government Act 2000 and paragraphs 8 to 13 of 
the Members Code of Conduct. 
 
 

 

5   
 

  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 
To receive any apologies for absence. 
 
 

 

6   
 

  MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 
 
To receive and approve the minutes of the 
previous meeting held on 6th September 2006. 
 
(Copy attached.) 
 
 

1 - 6 



 

 
C 

Item 
No 

Ward/Equal 
Opportunities 

Item Not 
Open 

 Page 
No 

7   
 

  MINUTES OF THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 
 
To receive and note the minutes of the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee meeting held on 4th 
September 2006. 
 
(Copy attached.) 
 
 

7 - 10 

8   
 

  MINUTES OF THE EXECUTIVE BOARD 
 
To receive and note the minutes of the Executive 
Board meeting held on 20th September 2006. 
 
(Copy attached.) 
 
 

11 - 
22 

9   
 

  MINUTES OF THE THRIVING COMMUNITIES 
CORPORATE PRIORITIES BOARD 
 
To receive and note the minutes of the Thriving 
Communities Corporate Priorities Board meeting 
held on 14th September 2006. 
 
(Copy attached.) 
 
 

23 - 
26 

10   
 

  EMPTY PROPERTY STRATEGY 
 
To receive the report of the Director of 
Neighbourhoods and Housing advising the 
Scrutiny Board of the revised Corporate Empty 
Property Strategy and associated targets for 2006 
– 2010.  
 
(Report attached.) 
 

27 - 
62 

11   
 

  HOMELESSNESS STRATEGY 
 
Report to follow. 
 

 

12   
 

  PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
 
Report to follow.  
 

 



 

 
D 

Item 
No 

Ward/Equal 
Opportunities 

Item Not 
Open 

 Page 
No 

13   
 

  WORK PROGRAMME 
 
To consider the report of the Head of Scrutiny 
Support and Member Development on the Board’s 
work programme. 
 
(Report attached.) 
 
 

63 - 
70 

14   
 

  DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING 
 
Wednesday 8th November at 10:00 am. 
 
(Pre-meeting at 9.30 am for Board Members) 
 
 

 

 



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 11th October, 2006 

 

SCRUTINY BOARD (NEIGHBOURHOODS AND HOUSING) 
 

WEDNESDAY, 6TH SEPTEMBER, 2006 
 

PRESENT: 
 

Councillor R Pryke in the Chair 

 Councillors S Armitage, P Ewens, 
R Finnigan, A Gabriel, M Phillips, 
M Rafique and D Schofield 

 
17 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS  

The following Members declared personal / prejudicial interests for the 
purpose of Section 81 (3) of the Local Government Act 2000 and paragraphs 
8 to 13 of the Members Code of Conduct: 
 
Councillor P Ewens – Declared a personal interest as a Member of Leeds 
North West ALMO Board. 
 
Councillor A Gabriel – Declared a personal interest as the Chair of the 
Beeston Hill and Holbeck Regeneration Board.  
 
Councillor D Schofield – Declared a personal interest as a Director of South 
East Leeds ALMO Board.  
 
 

18 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Akhtar and Atkinson. 
 

19 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  
RESOLVED – That the minutes of the meeting held on 20th July 2006 be 
agreed as a correct record.  
 

20 MINUTES OF THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  
RESOLVED – That the minutes of the two Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
meetings held on 3rd July 2006 be received and noted.  
 

21 MINUTES OF THE EXECUTIVE BOARD  
RESOLVED – That the minutes of the Executive Board meetings held on 5th 
July 2006 and 16th August 2006 be received and noted.  
 

22 MINUTES OF THE THRIVING COMMUNITIES CORPORATE PRIORITIES 
BOARD  
RESOLVED – That the minutes of the Thriving Communities Corporate 
Priority Board meeting held on 22nd July 2006 be received and noted. 
  

23 QUESTIONS TO THE DIRECTOR  
The Head of Scrutiny and Member Development submitted a report which 
afforded Scrutiny Board Members the opportunity to raise questions and 
issues with the Director of Neighbourhoods and Housing. 
 

Agenda Item 6

Page 1



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 11th October, 2006 

 

Paul Langford, Chief Housing Services Officer, Neighbourhoods and Housing, 
attended the meeting in place of the Director, Neil Evans who was unable to 
attend.  
 
The main areas of the ensuing discussion are detailed below: 

- Whether any liaison had taken place between Glendale and the 
ALMOs regarding who is responsible for certain areas of land 
across the city; 

- Whether the Council currently advertises tenders for construction 
work to a European-wide market and the possible financial benefits 
this could have; 

- If any evidence of construction cartels had been identified through 
the tendering process; 

- The positive work of the Leeds Construction Partnership in 
promoting a fair and open market for work in the city; 

- The need for the Council and private companies to consider taking 
on more school leavers as apprentices in order to acquire and 
retain more skilled trades people;  

- The work of Renew in promoting skilled trades among the 14 – 16 
years age range; 

- The status of the ALMO review and the predicted make-up of any 
future Boards following the outcome of the review, particularly as 
regards current independent members; 

- The importance of the work provided by the Outreach Service and 
the negative effect of sickness levels upon this service; 

- Whether it was the intention of East Leeds ALMO to ring-fence 
current tenant vacancies from the Seacroft area; 

- The problems encountered by Ward Members in relation to various 
local lettings policies; 

- The allocation of Decency money, its allocation and the policies in 
place which govern expenditure in relation to the scheme; 

- The issue of overcrowded housing across the city. 
 
The Chair thanked Officers for their attendance and contribution to the 
meeting.  
 
RESOLVED – That the contents of the discussion be noted.  
 
(Councillor Gabriel left the meeting at 11:55 am at the conclusion of 
consideration of this item.) 
 

24 NEIGHBOURHOOD TASKING IN INNER EAST LEEDS  
The Director of Neighbourhoods and Housing presented a report updating 
Members on the Neighbourhood Tasking Teams in Inner East Leeds. The 
Board heard that five teams had been established in areas in Inner East 
Leeds with the aim of bringing professional agencies together in order to 
share intelligence, expertise and undertake problem solving. The Teams, 
which were linked to Neighbourhood Management, meet monthly to discuss a 
range of community issues.   
 

Page 2



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 11th October, 2006 

 

The Teams consisted of a core membership of the Police (including PCSOs) 
Wardens, Community Staff, (including the Anti-Social Behaviour Unit) ALMO 
estate management staff, Area Management, Streetscene and the Fire 
Service. Members were informed that a budget of £10,000 had been allocated 
to each Tasking Team through the relevant Area Committee. 
 
The following Officers attended the meeting to present the report and respond 
to Members’ questions: 
John Woolmer, Area Coordinator, Neighbourhoods and Housing; 
Beverley Yearwood, Area Community Safety Coordinator, Neighbourhoods 
and Housing. 
 
Members discussed the following issues in relation to the report: 

- The role of Ward Members in relation to the work of the Tasking 
Teams; 

- Data protection issues in relation to the sharing of information 
between agencies; 

- The improvement in working relationships between departments; 
- The need for all agencies to attend meetings in order to maximise 

the effectiveness of the Teams; 
- The difference between the work of the Tasking Teams in relation 

to Area Management Teams. 
 
Members praised the work undertaken by the Tasking Teams in the Inner 
East Area to date. The Chair thanked Officers for their attendance and 
contribution to the meeting. 
 
RESOLVED – That the contents of the report be noted. 
 

25 THE RESPECT ACTION PLAN AND ITS IMPLEMENTATION IN LEEDS  
The Director of Neighbourhoods and Housing submitted a report providing 
Members with information on the Respect Action Plan and updating the Board 
on the latest position regarding implementation of the plan in Leeds. Members 
were informed that a report was due to be considered shortly by the 
Corporate Management Team. This would then form part of the package to be 
submitted to the Home Office as part of the Authority’s drive to attain Respect 
‘Action Area’ status.  
 
The meeting heard that the plan had been split into six target areas in order to 
tackle the Government initiative; young people, schools, support for parents 
and families, housing,  neighbourhoods, and enforcement against anti-social 
behaviour. Whilst the agenda was considered positive in its prevention-
focused approach, there were issues surrounding funding for the programme. 
However, whilst work to implement the scheme was still ongoing, it was felt 
that the direction of the agenda did coincide with the work of the Authority to 
date, with its commitment to seek to prevent anti-social behaviour in the first 
instance but to act decisively when it does occur.  
 

Page 3



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 11th October, 2006 

 

Gillian Mayfield, Public Safety Manager, Neighbourhoods and Housing, 
attended the meeting to present the report and respond to any queries from 
Members. 
 
The Board discussed the following issues in relation to the report: 

- The need for the Police to be seen as accountable to the 
community and the moves to implement this through ‘Face The 
People’ sessions; 

- The resource implications on the Authority of implementing a 
central Government agenda; 

- The potential overlap between projects and the associated need for 
agencies to communicate with one another. 

 
The Chair thanked Officers for their attendance and contribution to the 
meeting. 
 
RESOLVED – That the progress made to date to implement the Respect 
Action Plan in Leeds be noted. 
 
(Councillor Finnegan left the meeting at 12:25 pm following the conclusion of 
consideration of this item.) 
 

26 TEMPORARY ACCOMMODATION FOR YOUNG PEOPLE  
The Director of Neighbourhoods and Housing submitted a report to the Board 
detailing information in relation to the legal duties owed by the Council to 
homeless young people and how the Authority carries out these duties in 
terms of securing suitable temporary accommodation.  
 
Members heard that the Council has a legal requirement to secure suitable 
accommodation on a temporary basis for those individuals or households who 
can be identified as having a priority need under homeless legislation. Whilst 
the authority defines young people as those aged under 25 years, the Board 
were informed that only young homeless persons aged 16 or 17 would 
automatically be classed as in priority need. Those aged 18 or over would 
have to be assessed to determine their eligibility. However it was stressed 
that having dependent children or being pregnant would automatically mean 
an applicant would be classed as in priority need. 
 
The meeting heard that as the Council has a duty to secure but not provide 
accommodation, there was considerable flexibility afforded to the Strategic 
Housing Service in terms of the range and quality of private accommodation 
that could be utilised.  
 
Bridget Emery, Head of Strategic Commissioning, Neighbourhoods and 
Housing, attended the meeting to present the report and respond to any 
questions from Members. 
 
The Board discussed the following issues in relation to the report: 

- The concentration of temporary accommodation provision within a 
small geographical area of Leeds, notably LS7, 8 and 9; 

Page 4



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 11th October, 2006 

 

- What support was available to homeless young people who were 
particularly vulnerable, such as those with disabilities or leaving 
care; 

- Assistance offered through the Supporting People programme; 
- The fact that young people aged between 16 – 18 years would also 

come under legislation contained within the Children’s Act. 
 
The Chair thanked Officers for their attendance and contribution to the 
meeting. 
 
RESOLVED – That the contents of the report be noted. 
 

27 INQUIRY INTO REGENERATION IN BEESTON HILL AND HOLBECK  
Following the site visit that Board Members had undertaken to the area prior 
to the meeting, the Director of Neighbourhoods and Housing presented a 
report which provided information for Members for the inquiry regarding the 
ongoing regeneration work taking place in Beeston Hill and Holbeck. 
Members heard that the current and planned work in the area was part of an 
integrated strategy which hoped to bring transformational change to both 
properties and residents. The need for partnership with private sector 
companies in order to deliver high quality work at competitive prices was 
highlighted as a key objective. 
 
Officers spoke of the problem the city faced in relation to the proliferation of 
back-to-back housing in many areas. This type of housing was particularly 
common around Beeston Hill and earlier in the day during the site visit 
Members had inspected a derelict back-to-back property. The visit had also 
taken in many other key sites in the regeneration scheme as a whole 
including the Holbeck Urban Village, an area that had benefited from the 
‘group repair’ strategy and Tempest Road, which had undergone a £1 million 
facelift in order to provide an uplift to one of the main routes through the area.  
 
The following Officers attended the meeting in order to present the report and 
answer Members’ queries: 
John Bracewell, Neighbourhood Renewal Manager, Neighbourhoods and 
Housing; 
Mark Ireland, Service Manager, Neighbourhoods and Housing 
Andy Beattie,  Deputy Chief Environmental Health Officer, Neighbourhoods 
and Housing.  
 
Members discussed the following issues during consideration of the report: 

- The lack of community facilities in the area caused by decades of 
chronic underinvestment and whether this could be remedied by 
PFI funds; 

- The potential of the now empty Matthew Murray site as a 
community resource for the future; 

- Whether there was any scope for assisting businesses in the area 
to improve the standard of their premises; 

Page 5



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 11th October, 2006 

 

- The possibility of the authority undertaking a scheme to remodel 
back-to-back properties and the problems associated with any such 
initiative; 

- The acknowledged need for larger houses in the area to 
comfortably accommodate bigger or extended families; 

-  Whether any further investment could be secured through Section 
106 agreements in the area. 

 
The Chair thanked Officers for their attendance at the site visit and the 
meeting.  
 
RESOLVED – That the contents of the report be noted. 
 
(Councillors Armitage and Rafique both left the meeting during consideration 
of this item.) 
 

28 WORK PROGRAMME  
The Head of Scrutiny and Member Development submitted a report which 
detailed the current work programme of the Board, including scheduled and 
unscheduled items. Members were invited to comment on and make 
amendments to the work programme, as appropriate. 
 
The Board discussed the contents of the programme. It was agreed that the 
progress of the ongoing PFI bid in relation to the inquiry into regeneration in 
Beeston Hill and Holbeck be reported to the Board at the next meeting in 
October. Following further discussions it was also agreed to revisit the issue 
of empty properties in the City and to examine the success of local lettings 
policies in certain areas.   
 
RESOLVED – That the contents of the report and the revisions to the work 
programme be noted.  
 

29 DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING  
Wednesday 11th October 2006 at 10:00 am (pre-meeting for Board Members 
at 9:30 am.) 
 
(The meeting concluded at 12:55 pm.) 
 
 

Page 6



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Monday, 9th October, 2006 

 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

MONDAY, 4TH SEPTEMBER, 2006 
 

PRESENT: 
 

Councillor G Driver in the Chair 

 Councillors B Anderson, J Bale, B Cleasby, 
B Lancaster and T Leadley 

 
 

25 Declaration of Interests  
 

The following declarations of personal interest were made:- 
 
Councillor Anderson – Agenda Item 7 (Minute No 28 refers) Preliminary 
Report on the Council’s Statement of Gambling Policy (Chair of the Leeds 
Casino Advisory Group), Agenda Item 8 (Minute No 30 refers) Scrutiny Inquiry 
into Energy and Water Management (Lead Member on this subject), Agenda 
Item 10 (Minute 29 refers) Performance Report 2005/06 (ALMO Board 
Member, Leeds NW Homes and Lead Member on ‘Narrowing the Gap’) 
 
Councillors Driver and Lancaster – Agenda Item 10 (Minute 29 refers) – 
ALMO Board Members, Leeds South Homes and Leeds NE Homes 
respectively) 
 

26 Apologies for Absence  
 

Apologies for absence from the meeting were submitted on behalf of 
Councillors Grahame and Pryke 
 

27 Minutes - 3rd July 2006  
 

• Minute No 23 – Review of Called-In Decision – Closure of Miles Hill and 
Potternewton Primary Schools and Creation of a New School on the 
Potternewton Site. 

 
Councillor Lancaster referred to her declaration of interest at the last 
meeting, and indicated that this related to her capacity as a Governor of 
Carr Manor High School, not Primary School. 
 

RESOLVED – That subject to the above amendment, the minutes of the 
meetings held on 3rd July 2006 be confirmed as a correct record. 
 

28 Preliminary Report on the Council's Statement of Gambling Policy  
 

The Director of Legal and Democratic Services submitted a report informing 
Members of the implications of the Gambling Act 2005 and seeking the 
Committee’s views on the draft Statement of Gambling Policy, which was a 
statutory document outlining how the Council would seek to promote its 
licensing objectives under the Act. 

Agenda Item 7

Page 7



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Monday, 9th October, 2006 

 

 
Michael Romagnoli, Licensing Section, Legal and Democratic Services 
Department, attended the meeting and responded to Members’ queries and 
comments.  In brief summary, the main areas of discussion were:- 
 

• The Committee regarded that they had not been consulted early enough in 
the consultation process; 

• The Committee stressed that its greatest concern at this stage was the 
seemingly limited range of those who had been consulted.As the 
document stood,it appeared that some key partners had not been 
consulted,particularly District Partnerships,Primary Care Trusts and faith 
organisations.The view was expressed that the apparent absence of 
consultation potentially weakened the legitimacy of the policy 
document,and that consultation should not end with the publication of the 
document,but should continue throughout the life of the 
document,including any review of its effectiveness;  

• Reference was made to Paragraph 2.1 of the draft Statement, which 
referred to ‘excellent accessibility and transport connections’. Whilst this 
might be true in terms of getting to Leeds, it was the view of the 
Committee that it did not apply in terms of movement within Leeds; 

• Reference was made to the comments contained in Paragraphs 12.1 to 
12.7 relating to the protection of children and ‘vulnerable people’. This was 
felt to be too vague, as was reference to a ‘Children’s Board’; 

• The fact that the Statement was a ‘work in progress’ – this draft had been 
prepared three months ago, but new guidelines had now emerged from 
the Gambling Commission and the Department for Culture, Media and 
Sport, and these would be reflected when a revised statement was 
submitted to the Committee in October before going before the Executive 
Board on 15th November and full Council on 13th December 2006. 

 
The Chair suggested that at this stage, in consultation with the Head of 
Scrutiny and Member Development, he should draft and send a letter to the 
Chair of the Executive Board, outlining the Committee’s initial concerns as 
expressed today, but that the Committee reserve making its formal comments 
or recommendations on the draft Statement of Gambling Policy until it has 
considered a possible revised Statement in October. 
 
RESOLVED – That the Chair’s suggested course of action, as outlined above, 
be approved. 
 

29 Performance Report - Full Year 2005/06  
 

The Committee considered a report relating to performance issues for the 
period 2005/06 and those matters which had been identified by the Corporate 
Priority Boards and the Corporate Management Team as key performance 
indicators of corporate significance. 
 
Steve Clough, Chief Executive’s Department, attended the meeting and 
responded to Members’ queries and comments.  In brief summary the main 
points discussed were:- 

Page 8



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Monday, 9th October, 2006 

 

 

• Reference was made to the evidential base for alleged ‘areas of good 
performance’, the Committee’s draft Terms of Reference for its proposed 
Inquiry into the effectiveness or otherwise of the Council’s ‘Narrowing the 
Gap’ initiative, and how relevant current monitoring methods and 
performance indicators were in this regard. This was something which no 
doubt the Committee would want to cover as part of its Inquiry, and 
individual Scrutiny Boards might also wish to pursue this aspect in terms of 
performance areas within their remit; 

• Some of the terminology in the report was regarded as less than 
transparent – instead of referring to performance being ‘within the 
threshold’, it was regarded as more appropriate to refer to it being ‘less 
than satisfactory’ or ‘failing to meet the target’. It was also felt that it would 
be useful in future to highlight or ‘headline’ the main issues in some way; 

• Referring to ‘complaint handling’ and Paragraph 5.14 of the report, and the 
target figure of 90% of complaints answered within 15 days, as opposed to 
a year end performance of 38%, comment was made that more 
information was required regarding past performance and current 
performance, and that these should then be linked to a realistic achievable 
target.  The question was also raised as to whether the report should  
contain recommendations and action plans linked to the resource 
implications?  It was pointed out that these matters were addressed at 
Departmental level; 

• Parts of the report were regarded as too vague, in particular the 
references to Children’s Services, and this could lead to scepticism in 
regard to the report as a whole. 

 
RESOLVED – That individual Scrutiny Boards pick up any particular issues 
within their remit which they wish to investigate in more depth, and a further 
report be submitted to OSC in due course after this exercise. 
 

30 Scrutiny Inquiry - Energy and Water Management - Response to 
Committee's Recommendations  

 
The Head of Scrutiny and Member Development submitted the response of 
the Asset Management Service, Development Department, to the results of 
the Committee’s Inquiry into Energy and Water Management within the 
Council. 
 
RESOLVED – That the Committee receive periodic update reports in order to 
monitor progress on implementation of its recommendations. 
 

31 Scrutiny Commission Inquiries: Flooding in Leeds and Workforce 
Planning - Responses to Recommendations  

 
The Head of Scrutiny and Member Development submitted a report regarding 
the responses of various Departments and agencies to the recommendations 
made by the above two Scrutiny Commissions established in 2005/06 by the 
Committee. 
 

Page 9



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Monday, 9th October, 2006 

 

RESOLVED – That the report be noted and issues be addressed by this 
Committee, other Scrutiny Boards and individual Members as appropriate 
throughout this municipal year,Councillor Driver to lead on Workforce 
Planning issues and Councillor Leadley on Flooding in Leeds issues. 
 

32 Work Programme  
 

The Head of Scrutiny and Member Development submitted the Committee’s 
work programme, updated to reflect decisions taken at previous meetings, 
together with a relevant extract of the Council’s Forward Plan of Key 
Decisions and a copy of the minutes of the Executive Board meeting held on 
5th July 2006. 
 
It was agreed to delete the scrutiny of the budget item from the October 
meeting, but to hold an informal working lunch in October for a preliminary 
discussion of budget issues.  It was also agreed to invite Councillor Harris to 
the October meeting to discuss the ‘Narrowing the Gap’ initiative. 
 
RESOLVED – That subject to the above amendments, the Committee’s work 
programme be approved and accepted. 
 

33 Dates and Times of Future Meetings  
 

Monday 9th October 2006 
Monday 6th November 2006 
Monday 4th December 2006 
Monday 8th January 2007 
Monday 5th February 2007 
Monday 5th March 2007 
Monday 2nd April 2007 
 
All at 10.00 am (Pre-meetings at 9.30 am) 
 
 
 

Page 10



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 18th October, 2006 

EXECUTIVE BOARD 

WEDNESDAY, 20TH SEPTEMBER, 2006 

PRESENT: Councillor M Harris in the Chair 

 Councillors A Carter, D Blackburn, R Brett, 
J L Carter, R Harker, P Harrand, J Procter, 
S Smith, K Wakefield and J Blake 

   

51 Exclusion of Public  
RESOLVED – That the public be excluded from the meeting during consideration of 
the following parts of the agenda designated as exempt on the grounds that it is 
likely, in view of the nature of the business to be transacted or the nature of the 
proceedings, that if members of the public were present there would be disclosure to 
them of the exempt information so designated as follows: 

(a) Appendices to the report referred to in minute 64 under the terms of Access to 
Information Procedure Rule 10.4(3) and on the grounds that the public 
interest in maintaining the information as exempt, outweighs the public 
interest in disclosing the information, as disclosure may prejudice the outcome 
of the disposal. 

(b) Appendices 1, 2 and 4 to the report referred to in minute 69 under the terms 
of Access to Information Procedure Rule 10.4(3) and on the grounds that the 
public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information by reason of the fact that disclosure of appendices 
1 and 2 could potentially prejudice the success of the scheme by speculative 
investors acquiring properties in advance of the Council’s action and of 
appendix 4 because the costs attributed to the purchase of private properties 
are purely estimates at this stage and their disclosure could prejudice the 
Council’s ability to reach an agreement on the purchase price with owners. 

(c) Appendix 1 to the report referred to in minute 72 under the terms of Access to 
Information Procedure Rule 10.4(3) and on the grounds that the public 
interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information as the Council have a duty in terms of commercially 
confidential information entered into with the Preferred Bidder which would  be 
adversely affected by disclosure which could also jeopardise the successful 
conclusion of the procurement process. 

52 Declaration of Interests  
Councillors D Blackburn, J L Carter, Harker, Smith and Harrand declared personal 
interests in the item relating to Leeds Grand Theatre (minute 62) as members of its 
board of management. 

Agenda Item 8

Page 11



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 18th October, 2006 

Councillor Blake declared personal interests in the items relating to Leeds Grand 
Theatre (minute 62) as a member of the board of both the Grand Theatre and of 
Opera North, and Otley Prince Henry Grammar School (minute 58) as a governor 
and as a parent of a pupil at the school. 

Councillor Brett declared a personal interest in the item relating to ALMOs in Leeds 
(minute 71) as a board member of South East Leeds ALMO. 

Further declarations made during the course of the meeting are referred to in minute 
63 (Councillor Harker), minute 66 (Councillor Harris) and minute 69 (Councillor J L 
Carter). 

53 Minutes  
RESOLVED – That the minutes of the meeting of the Board held on 16th August 
2006 be approved. 

CENTRAL AND CORPORATE

54 Council Change Programme  
a) Overarching Report 

The Chief Officer (Executive Support) submitted a report on the Council’s continuous 
change programme covering the over-arching objectives of the programme and 
presenting  supplementary reports covering Children’s Services developments, Adult 
Services and an update on partnership working and the Local Area Agreement. 

RESOLVED –  
(a) That the overarching framework for the Council’s continuous change 

programme be endorsed. 
(b) That the objectives as detailed in the submitted report be approved. 
(c) That the scope of work being progressed, as described in the report be noted. 
(d) That recommendations from the supplementary reports be approved as 

follows: 

b) Children’s Services Developments 

The Director of Children’s Services submitted a report regarding the proposed 
Children’s Trust arrangements for Leeds.  

RESOLVED- 
(i) To note and approve 

• the proposed “children’s trust arrangements” and associated 
governance structures, including the relationships between the 
elements and the Director of Children’s Services Unit; 

• the overall role and approach to meeting accountabilities proposed 
for the Director of Children’s Services Unit; 

• the approach to dealing with resourcing issues across the 
partnership; and  

• the intention to review the Children’s Trust arrangements in 2007. 

Page 12



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 18th October, 2006 

(ii) To note that the Chief Executive will use his delegated powers to 
establish the Director of Children’s Services Unit once the final detail 
has been worked up. 

(iii) That further reports about the implementation of the arrangements and 
about specific significant issues be brought to the Board to update on 
progress. 

c) Role of the Director of Adult Social Services 

The Director of Adult Social Services submitted a report regarding Statutory 
Guidance on the role of the Director of Adult Social Services. 

RESOLVED- 

(i) That the requirements of guidance regarding the role of the Director of 
Social Services be noted; 

(ii) That the adoption of seven outcomes for adults, as described in the 
report, to provide a strategic direction for the future of adult services 
and as a basis for ongoing consultation with service users and the 
wider community be approved. 

d) Leeds Initiative

The Chief Officer (Executive Support) and the Director of Neighbourhoods and 
Housing submitted a report on the Leeds Initiative; District Partnership and Local 
Area Agreement Update. 

RESOLVED- 

(i) That the approach taken by the Leeds Initiative in fulfilling the 
Government’s requirements as the city’s accredited local strategic 
partnership be endorsed. 

(ii) That the progress made by the district partnerships and in developing 
the city’s first local area agreement be endorsed. 

(iii) That the proposal for all District Partnerships to report into their 
respective area committees on a quarterly basis be agreed. 

Page 13



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 18th October, 2006 

(iv) That elected members receive more regular briefings from officers 
regarding the Leeds Initiative. 

(v) That a further report updating on the Leeds Initiative be brought to the 
Executive Board in six months time. 

(vi) That the proposals for reviewing the structures, governance, 
performance management and delivery arrangements over the next 12 
months be approved. 

(vii) That further consideration be given to the consolidation of support of all 
service areas to maximise the Council’s leadership role in the work of 
the Leeds Initiative and to support the delivery of the Vision for Leeds 
2004-2020; the Leeds Regeneration Plan 2005-2008; the local area 
agreement and other plans and strategies. 

55 Update on Implementation of the Gambling Act 2005 and Determination of a 
Statement of Gambling Policy  
The Director of Legal and Democratic Services submitted a report on the preparatory 
work being carried out for the implementation of the Gambling Act 2005 including 
steps taken to prepare a Draft Statement of Gambling Policy for consideration of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee prior to further consideration by this Board and 
reference to Council in December 2006. 

RESOLVED –  

(a) That the methodology and timeframe for the adoption of the gambling policy 
as detailed in the report be noted. 

(b) (i) That the report “Consultation on the Draft Statement of Gambling 
Policy” be noted; 

 (ii) That the policy and the consultation results be referred to the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee for consideration 

 (iii) That a report detailed the findings of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee be brought to the November meeting of the Board. 

56 Financial Health Monitoring - Revenue  
The Director of Corporate Services submitted a report on the financial health of the 
authority after four months of the new financial year, in respect of the revenue 
budget for general fund services and the Housing Revenue Account. 

RESOLVED – 
(a) That the projected financial position of the Authority be noted. 
(b) That the proposed budget adjustments as described in the report be referred 

to full Council for approval. 
(c) That departments continue to develop and implement action plans. 

(Under the provisions of Council Procedure Rule 16.5 Councillor Wakefield required 
it to be recorded that he abstained from voting on this matter). 

Page 14



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 18th October, 2006 

CHILDREN'S SERVICES

57 Review of Primary Provision in Alwoodley Primary Planning Area  
The Chief Executive of Education Leeds submitted a report on further work 
undertaken and seeking approval to undertake public consultation on revised 
proposals for the Alwoodley Primary Planning Area. 

The report outlined the following options: 

1. Downsizing current provision to remove places, but retaining all schools. 
2. An amalgamation of Fir Tree and Archbishop Cranmer Primary Schools. 
3. Closure of Fir Tree Primary School 

The report concluded that the amalgamation of Fir Tree and Archbishop Cranmer 
Primary Schools as a voluntary controlled school, would be the most appropriate 
way to secure a viable school at the heart of its community. 

RESOLVED – 
(a) That formal public consultation be undertaken on: 

• The closure of Fir Tree Primary school in August 2007; 

• The closure of Archbishop Cranmer CE Aided Primary School in 
August 2007; 

• The establishment of a 1.5 form entry voluntary controlled primary 
school on the Archbishop Cranmer site in September 2007.

(b) That a report summarising consultation be brought to the December meeting 
of this Board. 

58 Otley Prince Henry Grammar School - Provision of Specialist Science 
Accommodation  
The Chief Executive of Education Leeds submitted a report on a proposed scheme 
to provide additional specialist science accommodation at Otley Prince Henry’s 
Grammar School. 

RESOLVED –  
(a) That design proposals in respect of the scheme to provide additional 

specialist science accommodation at Otley Prince Henry’s Grammar school 
be approved. 

(b) That injection of £55,000 of Capital Receipt into the approved Capital 
Programme be authorised. 

(c) That scheme expenditure in the total sum of £4,325,000 be authorised 

   

59 Leeds Building Schools for the future and ICT Strategic Partner Procurements  
The Chief Executive of Education Leeds submitted a report seeking the support of 
Executive Board to scope changes in both the procurement of the ICT Strategic 
Partner and the Procurement of the Leeds Local Education Partnership. 

RESOLVED –  

Page 15



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 18th October, 2006 

(a) That the movement of the procurement and maintenance of ICT hardware 
from the Leeds Local Education Partnership to the ICT Strategic Partner be 
agreed. 

(b) That appropriate instructions at this stage be issued to bidders in both 
procurements. 

(c) That the financial implications be noted. 

60 School and Children's Centre Designation  
The Director of Learning and Leisure submitted a report on the proposed re-
designation of four primary schools in Leeds following the publication of statutory 
notices to formally change the age range for which education services are provided 
in the schools in order to facilitate the delivery of children’s centre and extended 
services on these sites. 

RESOLVED – That the redesignation of Hawksworth Wood, Middleton, Windmill and 
Little London Primary Schools to reflect the change in the age range from 3 to 11 
years of age to 4 to 11 years of age with an on site children’s centre for children 
aged 0 – 4 be approved. 

LEISURE

61 Deputation to Council - South Leeds Sports Centre  
The Director of Learning and Leisure submitted a report providing contextual 
information relating to representations by the SPLASH group at Full Council on 19th

July 2006, and presenting proposals for the future of South Leeds Stadium. 

The report outlined the following options: 

• Centre to reopen – following some critical works with an estimated cost of 
approximately £70k 

• Centre remains closed – savings, both revenue and capital to be used to 
reinvest city wide and support local sports development work 

• New Outdoor Sport development – keeping the leisure centre closed and 
working up a proposal to develop the outside sports facilities with the 
possibility of retaining the sports hall. 

The report concluded that it would be possible to reopen the South Leeds Sports 
Centre in order to demonstrate its value within the local community although its 
operational viability would be comprised in its current form due to the opening of the 
new swimming and diving centre. 

RESOLVED – That the South Leeds Sports Centre be reopened

  

62 Future Governance of Leeds Grand Theatre and Opera House Ltd  
Further to minute 287 of the meeting held on 17th May 2006, the Director of Learning 
and Leisure submitted a report on proposed transitional arrangements for the Board 
of Leeds Grand Theatre and Opera House Ltd pending the outcome of discussions 
on the long term arrangements for the Board. 

Page 16



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 18th October, 2006 

The report presented the following options for future board arrangements. 

(a) Status Quo. 
(b) Implement in full current Articles of Association with 9 members, 5 of which 

are Councillors and 4 independent.  All appointed to a skills matrix with new 
schemes of delegation and responsibilities.  Vice Chair to be independent, 3 
Council staff acting as advisors on financial, legal and cultural matters. 

(c) Move to an independent trust where Councillors are in the minority.  All 
Appointed to a skills matrix with new schemes of delegation and 
responsibilities.  Chair to be independent.  No Council advisors. 

(d) Move to an independent trust for The Grand Theatre and another one for City 
Varieties and Headingley Picture House. 

(e) Move to an independent trust for The Grand Theatre, another one for City 
Varieties and find an alternative operator for the Picture House. 

(f) Replace current charitable company with 3 charitable companies. 
(g) Maintain a single Management Board as in a-c and have 3 separate venue 

sub Boards without elected member representation. 
(h) Find a commercial operator to run The Grand Theatre. 

The report recommended that a more independent operation would be ensured by 
immediate implementation of option (b). 

The report gave details of a proposed skills matrix for the appointment of Board 
Members.  The report also included the proposed Leeds Grand Theatre Board 
manual. 

RESOLVED –  
(a) That the establishment of a transitional Board of five City Councillors and four 

independent members all appointed using a skills matrix and nomination form 
be approved. 

(b) That approval be given to the proposals that: 
 (i) The independent members will be attracted through external 

advertisement. 
 (ii) Three senior Council officers representing legal, financial and cultural 

policy will advise the transitional board. 
 (iii) The Chair to be an Executive Board member. 

63 Council Participation in IGEN  
The Director of Learning and Leisure submitted a report setting out proposed 
changes to the level of Council participation in IGEN. 

RESOLVED –  
(a) That Council participation in Igen be reduced to being a Member of Igen with 

the right to appoint one Director to the Board. 
(b) That the Council should have the same voting rights as other Members and 

Directors, and that meetings should be permitted to be quorate without a 
Council presence. 

(c)  That the Council should safeguard its original ‘investment’ in Igen and Igen’s 
public purposes by a provision in Igen’s constitution that any change to the 

Page 17



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 18th October, 2006 

fundamental objects of Igen or to its status as a not-for-profit company, would 
require the agreement of the Council. 

(Councillor Harker declared a personal interest in this matter as a Council  
representative on West Yorkshire Connexions which has a number of contracts with 
IGEN). 

DEVELOPMENT

64 Leeds City Council's Shareholding in Leeds Bradford International Airport  
The Director of Development submitted a report updating Members on the progress 
made in determining the future of Leeds City Council’s shareholding in the Airport 
and proposing Leeds City Council’s participation in an outright (100%) disposal of 
the Airport Company in partnership with other participating Shareholders. 

Following consideration of Appendices 1 and 2 to the report, designated as exempt 
under Access to Information Procedure rule 10.4(3) it was 

RESOLVED –  
(a) That approval be given to the proposal that Leeds City Council will, subject to 

the agreement of the other West Yorkshire Districts, participate in the disposal 
of 100% of shares in the Leeds Bradford International Airport Company and, 
subject to the agreement of the four other West Yorkshire districts, instruct 
officers to progress such disposal in a timely manner. 

(b)  That in the event that not all of the five shareholders agree to participate in a 
100% disposal, Leeds City Council participate in a share disposal of 60% or 
more in the Airport Company, on the basis that Leeds city Council would sell 
100% of its interest in LBIA. 

(c) That officers of the five West Yorkshire districts draw upon the objectives 
detailed in the report to determine the criteria to be used in the future 
assessment of the submitted bids. 

(d) That approval, subject to proper consultation and compliance with legal 
requirements, be given to the proposal that bidders will be asked to implement 
pension arrangements that grant, for existing employees, fully equivalent 
pension benefits to the existing Local Government Pension Scheme and offer 
new employees, at the option of the new owner, membership of a final salary 
scheme, or a money purchase scheme. 

(e) That the proposal that bidders, as part of their submissions, be asked to 
explain their company culture with regard to staff retention, development and 
incentivisation be approved. 

(f) That any land owned by the five West Yorkshire districts which lies within the 
Airport’s Operational Boundary be included with the disposal of the Airport 
Company, and that officers be given delegated authority to determine whether 
it is appropriate to also include other five districts’ land which is in the vicinity 
of the Airport Operational Boundary in the disposal, subject, as always, to the 
requirement to achieve best consideration. 

(g) That a report seeking endorsement of the preferred bidder identified and the 
acceptance of the best and final offer made, to enable the transaction to be 
completed, be brought to a future meeting of the Board. 

Page 18



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 18th October, 2006 

(h) That the scale of the potential receipt that could accrue to the Council from a 
share disposal of Leeds Bradford International Airport be noted. 

(i) That approval be given to the Ernst and Young LLP scales of fees that will be 
incurred during the three phases of the disposal exercise and which will be 
charged to the purchaser upon completion of the transaction, and that the 
Director of Development be authorised to select that fee structure which best 
incentivises the consultants to optimise the disposal proceeds. 

(j) That officers be authorised to commission the vendor due diligence work 
required and also other technical consultancy advice as appropriate. 

(k) That Leeds City Council enter into an indemnity agreement with the other 
West Yorkshire districts, as set out, to govern the apportionment of any 
abortive fees incurred should the disposal transaction not complete and the 
Director of Corporate Services be instructed to make provision for any 
liabilities arising under this agreement and for any other abortive Leeds City 
Council costs. 

65 Regent Court, Call Lane Affordable Housing Subsidy Using Section 106 
Commuted Sums  
The Director of Development submitted a report seeking authority to spend £705,000 
of section 106 monies on an affordable housing subsidy at the proposed Regent 
Court housing scheme at Call Lane in the city centre 

RESOLVED –  
(a) That the release and injection of £705,000 section 106 monies into the Capital 

Programme at scheme 13150 to fund the grant for affordable rented housing 
and legal costs be approved. 

(b) That authority to spend £705,000 of section 106 monies on scheme 13150 
which is to be fully funded from section 106 monies be given 

66 A65 Quality Bus Initiative  
The Director of Development submitted a report on the current status of the A65 
Quality Bus Initiative and on proposals to progress the detailed development of a 
scheme. 

RESOLVED –  
(a) That the contents of the report and the Government’s decision to grant 

“programme entry” status to the A65 Quality Bus Initiative scheme be noted. 
(b) That approval be given to commence the development of the scheme, 

including detailed design, statutory procedures and procurement planning. 
(c) That the scheme development costs of £834,000 to cover detailed design 

fees and the preparation and consultation costs necessary to secure the 
statutory approvals for the scheme be approved. 

(d) That a further report be brought to this Board once scheme development has 
progressed. 

  
(Councillor Harris declared a personal and prejudicial interest in this item arising 
from his personal commercial activities, vacated the Chair in favour of Councillor A 
Carter and left the room for the duration of the discussion and voting thereon). 

67 Strategy for Town and District Centre Street Parking  

Page 19



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 18th October, 2006 

The Director of Development submitted a report outlining proposals for the future 
development of car parking strategies for town and district shopping centres in Leeds 
District 

RESOLVED – 
(a) That the content of the report be noted 
(b) That endorsement be given to the development of a general approach to car 

parking in towns and district centres based on the principles described in 
paragraph 2.8 of the report 

(c) That approval be given for the initial work to establish the appropriate parking 
assessment criteria and framework and to identify an action list of town 
centres, together with cost estimates for the strategy development work. 

68 The Leeds City Region Development Programme  
The Chief Officer (Executive Support) submitted a report seeking endorsement to the 
arrangements for securing the submission of the Leeds City Region Development 
Programme to the Northern Way Secretariat and Central Government by 29 
September 2006. 

RESOLVED –  
(a) That endorsement be given to arrangements for securing the submission of 

the Leeds City Region Development Programme to the Northern Way 
Secretariat and Central Government by 29 September, and, in that 
connection, authorise the Chief Executive, in consultation with the Leader, to 
agree the terms of the final document, in concert with the other authorities 
which make up the Leeds City Region Partnership, and, 

(b) That the proposals for the formal launch of the City Region Development 
Programme as set out in the report be noted. 

69 Regeneration of Cross Green Phase 2  
The Director of Neighbourhoods and Housing submitted a report presenting options 
for regeneration of the Cross Green area and on the proposed acquisition and 
clearance of 52 properties within Cross Green by utilising £2.4m of Regional 
Housing Board funding during 2006/08. 

The report detailed the following options: 

(a) Do minimum to meet legal conformity 
(b) Group repair and internal remodelling 
(c) Acquisition and redevelopment of the site. 

Following consideration of Appendices 1, 2 and 4 to the report, designated as 
exempt under Access to Information Procedure Rule 10.4 (3), and circulated at the 
meeting, it was  

RESOLVED – 
(a) That the injection into the Capital Programme of £2.4m of Regional Housing 

Board money be approved. 
(b) That Scheme Expenditure to the amount of £2.4m be authorised . 

Page 20



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 18th October, 2006 

(c) That officers be authorised to commence acquisition of properties by 
voluntary agreement with the owners.  In the event that agreement cannot be 
reached with the owner of any property within the target area for its 
acquisition, officers be authorised to make and promote any necessary 
Compulsory Purchase Orders. 

(Councillor J L Carter declared a personal interest in this item as a Director of 
Re’new which is active within this area). 

NEIGHBOURHOODS AND HOUSING

70 Government Guidance on Establishing the Housing Needs of  the Gypsy and 
Traveller Community  
The Director of Neighbourhoods and Housing submitted a report on the implications 
of the Government’s policy direction on the Gypsy and Traveller community and the 
supporting legislation and guidance and on the process the Council is required to 
undertake to meet the legal requirements. 

RESOLVED –  
(a) That the contents of the report be noted. 
(b) That an accommodation needs assessment of the Gypsy and Traveller 

Community be undertaken 
(c) That a strategy for Gypsy and Travellers in Leeds be developed as an 

element of the wider housing strategy for the City. 
(d) That it be noted that for a shared assessment to be undertaken by the 5 West 

Yorkshire authorities, the estimated total cost for the sub region would be 
£70,000 - £100,000, for which Leeds would have to make a proportionate 
contribution. 

71 The Future of Arms Length Management Organisations for Housing in Leeds  
The Director of Neighbourhoods and Housing submitted a report on the consultation 
with tenants on the alternatives of a single ALMO or three ALMOs and the result of 
the ballot of tenants on the alternatives of a single ALMO or three ALMOs. 

RESOLVED – 
(a) That three ALMOs be created in Leeds. 
(b) That the Director of Neighbourhoods and Housing be requested to begin the 

implementation process and that a report detailing proposals on future 
governance be brought to the October 2006 meeting of this Board. 

72 EASEL  
The Director of Neighbourhoods and Housing submitted a report delegated decision 
taken by the Director of Neighbourhoods and Housing with the support of the EASEL 
Regeneration Project Board. 

Following consideration of Appendix 1 to the report designated exempt under Access 
to Information Rule 10.4(3), it was 

RESOLVED –  

Page 21



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 18th October, 2006 

(a) That the decision of the Director of Neighbourhoods and Housing to extend 
the Exclusive Negotiation period with Bellway PLC be endorsed. 

(b) That a further report be brought to a future meeting of the Board at the end of 
the Extended Exclusive Negotiation Period. 

DATE OF PUBLICATION:  22nd September 2006 

LAST DATE FOR CALL IN: 29th September 2006 

(Scrutiny Support will notify relevant Directors of any items Called In by 12.00 noon 
on 2nd October 2006) 

Page 22



 Thriving Communities Corporate Priorities Board  
 

Minutes of the meeting held on 14 September 2006 
 

Chief Regeneration Officer’s Office, 4th Floor, Merrion House 
  
Chair  Neil Evans (NE), (Chair) Neighbourhoods and Housing 
 
Present Steve Carey (SC), Corporate Services – for Items 1-3 

Martin Green (MG), Neighbourhoods and Housing 
Dennis Holmes (DH), Social Services 
Tom Knowland (TK), Development 
Val Snowden (VS), Learning and Leisure 

 
Minutes David Kidston (DK), Neighbourhoods and Housing 
                
  Action 

1.0 Apologies. 
 

 

1.1 Apologies were received from Rory Barke (RB), Julie Meakin (JM), 
Rehana Minhas (RM), Denise Preston (DP), Marilyn Summers 
(MS), Lelir Yeung (LY). Martin Green attended on behalf of Sue 
Wynne (SW) and Tom Knowland attended on behalf of Steve Speak 
(SS) 
 

 

2.0 Minutes of the last meeting and matters arising 
 

 

2.1 NE reported that, despite concern over the accuracy of performance 
data on housing decency, the auditors have not qualified the 
indicator for housing decency. 
 

 

3.0 Tackling worklessness 
 

 

3.1 MG presented a report on worklessness, which outlined: the nature 
of the problem of worklessness; key changes to national policy and 
local delivery; progress against key targets; and ways to improve 
strategic and operational responses to the problem.  
 

 

3.2 There was a detailed discussion of the key issues around 
worklessness, including the following: 
 

• City-wide Narrowing the Gap targets on worklessness need to be 
revisited as part of the current review of the Leeds Regeneration 
Plan (LRP). Existing targets are focussed on changes at ward 
level, whereas the focus should be on achieving improvements in 
individual SOAs within priority neighbourhoods.  

• There is a need to establish a more diverse provider base to 
address the issue of worklessness in the City.  The lack of a 
strategic coordinating partnership group at the City level currently 
limits the ability of the City to direct resources to priority groups 

 

Agenda Item 9

Page 23



  Action 

and neighbourhoods. 

• The Welfare Reform Green Paper clearly emphasises the role of 
local areas/cities in developing local solutions to worklessness. 
However it is not currently clear how Job Centre Plus will facilitate 
this and engage with cities, because it has a sub-regional 
structure and its targets are set nationally. There is a need to 
clarify what the Green Paper means by ‘cities’, as developing city-
regional solutions to worklessness might be more compatible with 
the structure of Job Centre Plus. 

• Provision needs to address initial barriers to employment, such as 
mental health issues, drug dependency, motivation and a culture 
of worklessness in some neighbourhoods, before workless 
residents can be upskilled.  

• As a result of the new legislation, a greater proportion of 
Incapacity Benefit claimants will be required to engage in work-
related activity than previously. This could lead to a reduction in 
the number of workless people in Leeds, but it will also require 
LCC and other providers to work with claimants who may be less 
willing to engage. 

• There is a need to resource and upskill the voluntary and 
community sector to deliver programmes at the local level. 

• There is a need to encourage enterprise and self-employment in 
areas of the City with high levels of worklessness. The rapid 
economic growth of the City has largely been the result of 
medium and large companies which recruit on a regional or 
national basis, while the growth of small businesses has been 
much slower than elsewhere in the UK. 

 
3.3 NE to convene a meeting with Ian Hunter (IH) from JobCentre Plus 

to discuss the strategic approach to worklessness in Leeds and 
reaffirm the principles underpinning the accord between Leeds City 
Council and JobCentre Plus. LCC officers to be invited to include 
Paul Stephens (PS), Development and Martin Dean (MD), Leeds 
Initiative.  
 

NE 

3.4 MG to discuss with RB the undertaking of an audit of activity in 
Chapeltown to address worklessness. The study would identify the  
agencies involved, the kind of activities undertaken, the resources 
deployed and the resulting impacts. 
 

MG/RB 

4.0 Area Management Review 
 

 

4.1 NE presented the Terms of Reference and a series of draft 
proposals for the review of the Council’s approach to Area 
Management. Stephen Boyle (SB) has been asked to look at the 
links between the Area Management review and ongoing 
discussions regarding the council-wide restructure. For example, 
Children’s Services are proposing to develop district delivery 
arrangements, which could link to the existing activities of the Area 

 

Page 24



  Action 

Management Teams. 
 

5.0 Town and District Centres 
 

 

5.1 A progress report on Town and District centre regeneration 
schemes was tabled. NE to raise any issues emerging from the 
report with Franklin Riley (FR). 
 

NE 

6.0 Community Cohesion  

6.1 A progress update from LY on Community Cohesion was tabled. LY 
is proposing to complete an Annual Report on Community Cohesion 
activity across all Departments. LY to circulate the format of the 
report and guidance on the types of activity that Departments need 
to identify. 
 

 
 

LY 

7.0 Audit self assessment checklist for Corporate Priority Boards  

7.1 Each Corporate Priority Board is required to complete an audit self 
assessment checklist to assess their performance. It was agreed  
that DK and MS should complete the checklist on behalf of the 
Thriving Communities CPB and bring a draft to the next meeting of 
the Board for comment. The first hour of the next meeting will be set 
aside for discussion of the checklist.  
 

 
 

DK/MS 

7.2 DH suggested that DMT’s should be consulted on their perception 
of links with the CPB. 
 

 

7.0 Date of next meeting  
 

 

7.1 The next meeting will take place at 14.00-16.00 on 16 October 2006 
in the Boardroom, 4th Floor West, Merrion House. 
 

 

 
 

Page 25



Page 26

This page is intentionally left blank



 
Report of: Director of Neighbourhoods and Housing  
 
Scrutiny Board (Neighbourhoods and Housing) 
 
Date: 11th October 2006 
 
Subject: Empty Property Strategy 2006 - 2010 
 

        
 
 
Executive Summary 

Although Leeds is currently enjoying an overall growth in its economy there are still 
significant areas of deprivation and decline.  These areas are identified by indices of multiple 
deprivation that include measures demonstrating low educational achievement, higher than 
average unemployment, lower than average life expectancy and, higher levels of crime and 
anti-social behaviour etc. Drive through the city and you will be able to identify these areas of 
decline and deprivation by their poor physical environment and the high levels of empty and 
derelict properties.   

Invariably, there will always be a number of vacant dwellings across the city in order to allow 
the housing system to function effectively and to facilitate both residential mobility and the 
improvement or redevelopment of the housing stock. However, vacancy turnover rates and 
the number of long term empty properties are excessively high within certain areas of the city 
and this is having an adverse effect upon these communities.  

Long term empty properties tend to attract all manner of antisocial behaviour such as fly 
tipping, vandalism, arson, drug taking and other issues that affect the health and well being 
of the neighbourhood in which they are situated. Furthermore, when there is a proliferation of 
such properties, they are a graphic indicator of failing communities and therefore tend to 
deter further inward investment and become counter productive to the efforts to make the 
area once again a thriving place to live. The market value and desirability of the housing 
stock is adversely affected and the decreasing population has an impact upon the economy 
of the local business sector that serves these areas. Moreover, the decline of these 
communities is exacerbated and accelerated when the commercial and financial sectors feel 
it is no longer viable for them to continue trading and investing in these areas. 

Leeds City Council recognises that the strategy for dealing with empty and derelict properties 
must be set within a wider regeneration framework. Empty properties are a symptom of 
decline and deprivation and dealing with them in isolation will not be sufficient to turn around 

Specific Implications For:  

 
Equality and Diversity 
  
Community Cohesion 
 
Narrowing the Gap 

Electoral Wards Affected:  

 
All x 

 

x 

Originator: Jon Hough 
 
Tel: 2143204 

Agenda Item 10

Page 27



the fortunes of the areas they affect.  In order to create demand for property across all tenure 
and ownership types and to rebuild sustainable communities within these disaffected areas 
of the city it will take a concerted effort on the part of Leeds City Council and partners and 
therefore, at a strategic citywide level, the Empty Property Strategy documentation needs to 
be linked and considered in conjunction with the following key corporate documents:- 

1. Corporate Plan 

2. Leeds Housing Strategy 

3. Leeds Regeneration Plan and the component District Regeneration Plans 

4. City Growth Strategy 

5. Regional Housing Strategy 

6. Local Area Agreements 

7. Leeds Private Rented Sector Strategy 

8. The ALMO’s and RSL’s business plans and Empty Property Strategies 

9. Homelessness Strategy 

 

The attached  Empty Property Strategy  and the appendix Action Plan details Leeds City 
Council’s plans to address the problems of all long term empty homes where ever they are 
situated, but particular focus will be in respect of those communities with particular 
concentrations of such properties. 

 

 

1.0 Purpose Of This Report 

1.1 To advise Scrutiny Board of the revised Corporate Empty Property Strategy 
documentation and updated targets that have been set for the strategy for 2006-
2010 

2.0   Background Information 

2.1 According to Government figures collated in 2005, 680,412 homes are lying empty 
across the country, and there are over 100,000 families formally registered as being 
in temporary accommodation throughout the regions. However, this high figure 
excludes the number of single homeless people who are without a permanent home 
as there are no national records kept of the number of single homeless people. 
Many homeless charities state that they have huge difficulties moving people on 
from their homeless hostels into decent accommodation. In addition, there are many 
sections of the communities that find accessing decent accommodation very difficult 
due to the housing shortages throughout the regions. 

 
2.2 At this time of huge housing need within the country, it is particularly unfortunate 

that there are so many wasted homes lying empty. Any housing market will always 
have some degree of empty property through transactional vacancies, but what is 
particularly disturbing is the constantly high number of properties empty for more 
than six months. Across England there are just under 300,000 properties that have 

Page 28



been empty for more than six months and, across the board, the vast majority (86%) 
of this empty property is within the private sector. 

 
2.3 Looking at this situation within the context of Leeds, the overall void rate throughout 

the city is 5.45% (as of July 2006). 2.93% of the total housing stock has been empty 
for more than 6 months of which 2.49% is within the private sector. 

 
2.4 Leeds City Council devised its inaugural Empty Property Strategy in 1999 and it was 

`piloted’ within the Holbeck and Beeston  areas. The strategy, by necessity, had to 
be holistic in its approach in order to address the complex issues and problems that 
are the root cause of properties becoming empty and remaining under used for long 
periods. 

 
2.5 Since the launch of the strategy, many new initiatives have been added as we have 

had to take on board the issues that have confronted us in undertaking the re-
kindling / regeneration of these micro housing markets / failing communities 
throughout the various districts of the city. 

 
2.6 Subsequent to Leeds devising and implementing its Empty Property Strategy, the 

Government introduced its mandatory Best Value performance regime (BVPI64) by 
which all local authorities are compared upon their performance either in returning 
empty private sector housing back into use or demolish through their direct 
intervention. The number of empty properties within the authority is also a criterion 
upon which the council’s performance is judged under the Local Public Service floor 
target PSA7 and the Continual Performance Assessment measures. 

 
2.7 The attached Empty Property Strategy document has been revised and the targets 

updated for the period covering August 2006 to April 2010. 
 
3.0 Recommendations 

3.1 That Scrutiny Board approves / endorses the attached revised / updated Empty 
Property Strategy.  

 

Page 29



Page 30

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 28 

 
 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
Neighbourhoods and Housing Department 

EMPTY PROPERTIES STRATEGY 2006 - 2010  
(UPDATED AUGUST 2006) 

  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Page 31



 
2 

 

CONTENTS 

 
                                                                                                                                     
                                                                                                                                              Page 
 

• INTRODUCTION                                                                                                             4                      
 

• THE PURPOSE OF THE STRATEGY                                                                            5  
 

• BACKGROUND                                                                                                               6 
 

• THE STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES                                                                                    8 
 

• THE EMPTY PROPERTY STRATEGY                                                                           9 
 

STRANDS OF THE STRATEGY                                                                                                                          9 
 
LEADERSHIP OF THE EMPTY PROPERTY STRATEGY                                                                                  9 
 
THE INVOLVEMENT AND SUPPORT OF ELECTED WARD MEMBERS AND M.P.’s                                     10 
 
INTENSIVE NEIGHBOURHOOD MANAGEMENT                                                                                             10 
 
TACKLING THE PROBLEM OF PRIVATE SECTOR EMPTY PROPERTIES                                                    10 
 
TACKLING THE PROBLEM OF EMPTY PROPERTIES WITHIN THE SOCIAL HOUSING SECTOR             12 
 
DISPOSAL OF COUNCIL MISCELLANEOUS PROPERTIES                                                                           12 
 
LINKS TO THE HOMELESSNESS STRATEGY                                                                                                 12 
 
PROMOTION OF THE LEEDS LANDLORDS ACCREDITATION SCHEME                                                      12 
 
INTELLIGENCE AND INFORMATION                                                                                                                13 
 
CHANGES TO COUNCIL TAX DISCOUNTS ON EMPTY PROPERTIES                                                          13 
 
THE USE OF STATUTORY ENFORCEMENT ACTION                                                                                     13 
 
THE HOUSING HEALTH AND SAFETY RATING SYSTEM                                                                              14 
 
EMPTY DWELLING MANAGEMENT ORDERS                                                                                                 14 
 
SELECTIVE LICENSING OF THE PRIVATE RENTED SECTOR                                                                      15 
 
PROMOTION OF THE EMPTY PROPERTY STRATEGY VIA THE REVENUES DEPARTMENT                     15 
 
FREE ADVERTISING FOR LONG TERM EMPTY PROPERTY                                                                         15 
 
THE LEEDS HOMES – CHOICE BASED LETTING SCHEME                                                                           16 
 
THE `INVESTORS IN LEEDS’ INITIATIVE                                                                                                         16 
 
`LINKED’ INITIATIVES WITH THE RESIDENTIAL SOCIAL LANDLORDS                                                       16 
 
CREATING LOCAL OWNERSHIP OF THE STRATEGY THROUGH THE ESTABLISHMENT                         16 
OF EMPTY PROPERTY FORUMS WITHIN THE TARGETED AREAS OF DECLINE    
 
COMMUNITY SAFETY                                                                                                                                        17 
 
EDUCATIONAL LINKS AND RAISING THE AWARENESS OF YOUNG CHILDREN TO THE                         18 
POTENTIAL DANGERS OF EMPTY PROPERTIES  
 
LINKS WITH OTHER AUTHORITIES AND NATIONAL BODIES                                                                       18 

Page 32



 
3 

 
 

• THE POSSIBLE RISK FACTORS FOR THE FUTURE                                                19 
 

• ISSUES THAT ARE BEING DEBATED NATIONALLY WHICH, 
IF IMPLEMENTED, MAY IMPACT UPON THE STRATEGY BEFORE ITS NEXT 
REVIEW IN 2010                                                                                                           21 
 
REDFIELD SITES                                                                                                                                                        21 
 
VAT                                                                                                                                                                              21 
 
CAPITAL GAINS TAX                                                                                                                                                 22 
 
STAMP DUTY                                                                                                                                                              22 
 
COUNCIL TAX                                                                                                                                                             22 
 
 

• THE BENEFITS THAT HAVE BEEN GAINED BY ADOPTING THE STRATEGY        23 
                              

• THE VISION AND CORPORATE TARGETS FOR THE STRATEGY                           27 
 

• APPENDIX 1 - ALMO  CONTRIBUTIONS TO THE STRATEGY                                  25 
 

• APPENDIX  2 - EMPTY PROPERTY ACTION PLAN 2006 – 2010                              28 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CONTACT 
 
FOR FURTHER INFORMATION CONTACT:- 
 
JON HOUGH, ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH PROJECT MANAGER 
LEEDS CITY COUNCIL 
NEIGHBOURHOODS AND HOUSING DEPARTMENT 
ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH SERVICES 
299 ROUNDHAY ROAD 
LEEDS LS8 4HT 
E-mail:   jon.hough@leeds.gov.uk  
 
 

Page 33



 
4 

INTRODUCTION 

 

Although Leeds is currently enjoying an overall growth in its economy there are still significant areas of deprivation and 
decline.  These areas are identified by indices of multiple deprivation that include measures demonstrating low 
educational achievement, higher than average unemployment, lower than average life expectancy and, higher levels of 
crime and anti-social behaviour etc. Drive through the city and you will be able to identify these areas of decline and 
deprivation by their poor physical environment and the high levels of empty and derelict properties.   

Invariably, there will always be a number of vacant dwellings across the city in order to allow the housing system to 
function effectively and to facilitate both residential mobility and the improvement or redevelopment of the housing 
stock. However, vacancy turnover rates and the number of long term empty properties are excessively high within 
certain areas of the city and this is having an adverse effect upon these communities.  

Long term empty properties tend to attract all manner of antisocial behaviour such as fly tipping, vandalism, arson, 
drug taking and other issues that affect the health and well being of the neighbourhood in which they are situated. 
Furthermore, when there is a proliferation of such properties, they are a graphic indicator of failing communities and 
therefore tend to deter further inward investment and become counter productive to the efforts to make the area once 
again a thriving place to live. The market value and desirability of the housing stock is adversely affected and the 
decreasing population has an impact upon the economy of the local business sector that serves these areas. 
Moreover, the decline of these communities is exacerbated and accelerated when the commercial and financial 
sectors feel it is no longer viable for them to continue trading and investing in these areas. 

Leeds City Council recognises that the strategy for dealing with empty and derelict properties must be set within a 
wider regeneration framework. Empty properties are a symptom of decline and deprivation and dealing with them in 
isolation will not be sufficient to turn around the fortunes of the areas they affect.  In order to create demand for 
property across all tenure and ownership types and to rebuild sustainable communities within these disaffected areas 
of the city it will take a concerted effort on the part of Leeds City Council and partners and therefore, at a strategic 
citywide level, this document needs to be linked and considered in conjunction with the following key corporate 
documents:- 

• Corporate Plan 

• Leeds Housing Strategy 

• Leeds Regeneration Plan and the component District Regeneration Plans 

• City Growth Strategy 

• Regional Housing Strategy 

• Local Area Agreements 

• Leeds Private Rented Sector Strategy 

• The ALMO’s and RSL’s business plans and Empty Property Strategies 

• Homelessness Strategy 

The Empty Property Strategy and Action Plan sets out the plans of how Leeds City Council intends to address the 
problems of all long term empty homes where ever they are situated but a particular focus is placed upon those 
communities with concentrations of such properties. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 34



 
5 

THE PURPOSE OF THE STRATEGY 

 
To reduce the number of long-term empty properties (i.e. void more than 6 months) that are having a detrimental effect 
upon the communities in which they are situated.  
 
To continue to identify the true situation with regard to the number, distribution and ownership of vacant property 
throughout the city, especially within the areas of decline and to establish if any trends exist as to the reasons for these 
voids.  
 
To continue to devise solutions that will address the issues / problems that are the root cause of properties becoming 
empty and remaining under used for long periods.  
 
To set out the strategic direction for the Empty Property strategy and empty property work citywide 
 
To set out the roles and responsibilities of a range of departments, organisations and agencies involved in the 
implementation of the strategy and empty property work. 
 
To set out an action plan with targets and milestones to deliver the strategy up to 2010. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 35



 
6 

BACKGROUND 
 

There is increasing pressure on Local Authorities to develop effective empty homes strategies and there have been 
proposals by the Empty Homes Agency, the Urban Taskforce, and MP David Kidney (in a Private Members Bill) to 
make them a statutory duty. 

Empty homes are considered to be an important strategic issue nationally, as emphasised by the urban white paper, 
which contained many of the ideas proposed by the Planning Policy Guidance note 3 and the findings of the Urban 
Taskforce in their `Towards an Urban Renaissance’ report. 

The Planning Policy Guidance note 3 (1999) recommended maximising the re-use of previously developed land and 
the re-use of existing buildings within the existing urban centres. The national target is for 60% of additional housing to 
be built on previously developed land or provided through conversions of suitable commercial properties. Planning 
authorities are advised to adopt more flexible standards for redevelopment within the urban areas, for example over 
land use zoning, housing densities and parking standards. 

The Urban Task Force was established by the Government in 1998 in order to identify the causes of urban decline and 
to recommend practical solutions to encourage people back into urban areas. Recommendations within their report 
include making empty homes strategies a statutory duty for local authorities, the reduction of VAT on conversion and 
refurbishment, changes in Council Tax rules to enable authorities to impose higher charges, and the streamlining and 
consolidation of Compulsory Purchase Order legislation in order to facilitate accelerating the process. 

The Urban White Paper was released in November 2000. This raised the profile of empty homes by proposing that the 
Regional Development Agencies promote the issue by funding regional seminars to raise awareness and spread best 
practice. It also recommended practical measures to assist the re-use of empty homes with changes to the tax system 
and the subsequent March 2001 budget supported this by encouraging builders and property developers to work on 
empty properties  via the following measures :- 

The VAT rate was cut to 5% for the cost of:- 

• Renovating dwellings that have been empty for 3 years or more. 

• Converting a residential property into a different number of dwellings (e.g. converting a house into flats) 

• Converting a none residential property into a dwelling or number of dwellings. 

• Converting a dwelling into a House of Multiple Occupation. 

• VAT was removed on conversions for sale of properties empty over 10 years. 

• 100% capital allowance to create flats over shops for letting.  

According to Government figures collated in 2005, 680,412 homes are lying empty across the country, and there are 
over 100,000 families formally registered as being in temporary accommodation throughout the regions. However, this 
high figure excludes the number of single homeless people who are without a permanent home as there are no 
national records kept of the number of single homeless people. Many homeless charities state that they have huge 
difficulties moving people on from their homeless hostels into decent accommodation. In addition, there are many 
sections of the communities that find accessing decent accommodation very difficult due to the housing shortages 
throughout the regions. 
  

HIP statistics 2005 Raw data Regional and England grossed totals - Total vacant dwellings at 1 April 2005 

2005   Ownership of Empty Homes 

  Total Number of Empty 
Homes 

Local 
Authority 

RSL Other 
public 

Other private 

North East 39,148 5,209 3,424 396 30,119 

Yorkshire & 
Humberside 

79,505 7,320 4,799 260 67,126 

East Midlands 58,419 4,985 1,792 953 50,689 

Page 36



 
7 

Eastern Region 56,656 3,427 2,150 832 50,247 

London 91,219 9,619 5,826 963 74,811 

South East 91,232 3,211 3,767 720 83,534 

South West 57,956 2,039 2,264 518 53,135 

West Midlands 77,544 5,049 5,544 141 66,810 

North West 128,473 7,735 11,047 883 109,068 

ENGLAND TOTAL 680,412 48,594 40,613 5,666 585,539 

 
At this time of huge housing need within the country, it is particularly unfortunate that there are so many wasted homes 
lying empty. Any housing market will always have some degree of empty property through transactional vacancies, but 
what is particularly disturbing is the constantly high number of properties empty for more than six months. Across 
England there are just under 300,000 properties that have been empty for more than six months and, across the 
board, the vast majority (86%) of this empty property is within the private sector.  
 
Looking at this situation within the context of Leeds, the over all void rate throughout the city is 5.45% (as of July 2006).  
2.93% of the total housing stock has been empty for more than 6 months of which 2.49% is within the private sector. 
 
The United Kingdom has one of the largest economies in the world and yet there is so much housing need throughout 
the regions at a time when there is so much wasted housing. However, empty homes are not the whole answer to the 
current housing crisis but, Government and the Local Authorities cannot ignore their potential and the need to ensure 
that owners are both encouraged and, where appropriate, required to unlock the potential of this wasted resource. 
 
Leeds City Council devised its inaugural Empty Property Strategy in 1999 and it was ‘piloted’ within the Holbeck and 
Beeston areas. The strategy, by necessity, had to be holistic in its approach in order to address the complex issues 
and problems that are the root cause of properties becoming empty and remaining under used for long periods.  

Since the launch of the strategy, many new initiatives have been added as we have had to take on board the issues 
that have confronted us in undertaking the re-kindling / regeneration of these micro housing markets / failing 
communities throughout the various districts of the city.  

Subsequent to Leeds devising and implementing its Empty Property Strategy, the Government introduced its 
mandatory Best Value performance regime (BVPI 64) by which all local authorities are compared upon their 
performance either in returning empty private sector housing back into use or demolish through their direct 
intervention. The number of empty properties within the authority is also a criterion upon which the council’s 
performance is judged under the Local Public Service floor target PSA7 and the Continual Performance Assessment 
measures. 

The Empty Property Strategy has been firmly embedded within the Council Plan and Housing Strategy and, it is an 
integral part of the regeneration approaches being adopted by the new District Partnerships in their Action Plans and in 
the complementary work that Leeds City Council is undertaking within the Neighbourhood Priority Areas throughout the 
city.   

This document updates the Leeds Empty Property Strategy that was based on earlier experience in order to 
incorporate new initiatives and set the revised targets which are to be achieved by 2010.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 37



 
8 

 

 THE STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES  

 
 

• To continue to reduce the number of long-term empty properties (void more than 6 months) that are having a 
detrimental effect upon the communities in which they are situated throughout Leeds. 

 

• To continue to identify and continually monitor the scale and distribution of vacant property in relation to the total 
housing stock within the city. 

 

• To establish changes in the nature and extent of vacant dwellings throughout the city as an on going process. 
 

• To categorise the ebb and flow of vacant dwellings, the reasons for their origin, their prolonged vacancy, their final 
rehabilitation and any changes that occur which effects these factors. 

 

• To continue to define and assess the existence of long term vacancies and identify any emerging `hot spots' or high 
concentrations of vacant properties within the city. 

 

• To establish, within the identified areas of high concentrations of empty properties, the prime reasons for their 
existence and their prolonged empty status, specifically with regard to the implications of the stocks condition / 
nature of the housing market and any associated problems such as crime, vandalism, housing market failure etc.  

 

• To explore, promote and support a sustainable regeneration of the targeted areas through a multi agency / 
community involvement approach.  

 

• To devise / identify best practice and best value strategies that are designed to bring empty privately / publicly 
owned housing back into use and to seek to incorporate these strategies into the Leeds City Council's Corporate 
Plan and Housing Strategy. 

 

• To maximise the re-use of empty homes and thereby contribute to minimising the need for future development of 
Greenfield sites and protection of the environment. 

 

• To improve the existing built environment. 
 

• To support area regeneration programmes. 
 

• To assist the provision of good quality, affordable housing. 
 

• To ensure that the housing stock meets the range of needs that the citizens of Leeds require, whilst providing a 
choice of accommodation and neighbourhood. 

 

• To raise awareness of the issues surrounding empty homes. 
 

• To support the Housing Strategy, Council Plan and Local Area Plans. 
 

• To continue to lobby Central Government for changes in legislation, strategy and policy to facilitate the revitalization 
of empty properties which are viable and reflect the housing needs of the effected communities, the City of Leeds 
and the region as a whole.   

 

• To continue the process of lobbying Central Government to provide further funding  to address the ever pressing 
issue of the over supply of certain house types and the lack of demand for housing generally within the declining 
areas of the city / region. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 38



 
9 

 

THE EMPTY PROPERTY STRATEGY 

 
The Empty Property Strategy falls into 7 distinct strands:- 
 
• Intensive Neighbourhood Management. 
 

• Information – (analysis and dissemination) 
 

• `Local Ownership’ - to engage the local stakeholders and foster a sense of ownership within them to 
deal with the problems of empty properties and the issues that surround them. 

 

• An agreed Action Plan within the targeted areas of low demand - to encourage / facilitate the return 
back into economic use property which is not being utilised. 

 

• Environmental Management & Improvements. 
 

• Community Safety. 
 

• Educational Links and Raising Awareness of the problems and dangers associated with empty 
property and an unsanitary environment. 

 
 
Leadership of the empty property strategy. 
 

To successfully undertake the task of rekindling the micro housing markets within the affected neighbourhoods of low 
demand, Leeds City Council needs to have a concerted and truly corporate approach to resolving the inequalities and 
issues that are currently exacerbating the regeneration of these areas. To this end an Executive Empty Property Forum 
and Steering Group has been formed and is attended by senior officers who have a corporate interest to ensure the 
success of the empty properties strategy.  This group report to the Environment & Community Safety Corporate Priority 
Board to ensure that their recommendations are taken on board and integrated within the Council Plan etc.  

The terms of reference for the Group:- 

 
♦ To co-ordinate and represent the corporate views of Leeds City Council on issues concerning the Empty Property 

Strategy. 
 

♦ To draw upon the co-operation of all the relevant agencies in order to deliver the Empty Property Strategy city-
wide. 

 

♦ To consider the formulation of the targets that are to be set regarding empty properties - for inclusion within the 
Empty Property Strategy and Council Plan and, to monitor progress on achieving these targets. 

 

♦ To review performance against agreed targets within the various management areas and seek to identify and 
agree appropriate action to address under-performance. 

 

♦ To ensure that the Empty Property Strategy is firmly embedded within the Corporate priorities of ‘narrowing the 
gap’ and ‘creating confident communities’, and that this is reflected within the Area Management Plans, 
Neighbourhood Renewal Strategy and Departmental Service Plans. 

 

♦ To develop joint cross-Departmental and Divisional solutions to tackle the issues surrounding empty properties and 
areas of low demand within the city. 

 

♦ To identify best practice in addressing the problems/issues surrounding empty property and to ensure the `roll-out’ 
of any good practice throughout the city. 

 

♦ To facilitate the formulation of partnerships in order to deal with the issues of empty property and their 
regeneration, disposal or demolition. 

 

Page 39



 
10 

♦ To consider the community safety issues surrounding empty properties, having regard for the requirement within 
Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder act 1998 and the impact that empty properties have upon the local 
communities - particularly within the targeted areas of low demand. 

 

The involvement and support of Elected Ward Members and M.P.'s   
 

The influence of elected Ward Members and M.P.'s is invaluable in changing attitudes and in promoting the objectives 
of the Empty Property Strategy. They have also been instrumental in the lobbying of Central Government to effect 
change by legislation i.e. the licensing of HMO’s on a mandatory basis and by being involved in the lobbying process in 
Central Government to enable local authorities to have discretionary powers regarding selective licensing of the private 
rented sector within districts that are effected by low demand and/or anti social behaviour. Locally their support for this 
strategy as a priority assists in ensuring the necessary resources and efforts are focused on this work. 

Intensive Neighbourhood Management 

The ethos of Intensive Neighbourhood Management is key to the success of the Empty Property Strategy, in that, 
empty properties are a symptom of decline and deprivation and dealing with them in isolation will not be sufficient to 
turn around the fortunes of such areas. In order to create the demand for property across all tenure and ownership and 
rebuild sustainable communities, the following issues will need to be addressed: 

 

• Improve and then sustain the quality of life in the most disadvantaged neighbourhoods whereby success is 
measured by a reduction of crime and anti-social behaviour and improved environmental quality that is 
recognised by resident perception. 

 

• Develop and embed new tools to control and, where possible, remove the underlying causes of persistent, 
repetitive and stubborn social and environmental problems that create neighbourhood blight and ensure that 
major regeneration schemes emerging across the city are built on sustainable local foundations 

 

• To mainstream successful approaches such as the BANROCK and ARROW environmental task force 
operations and develop, co-ordinate and deploy local and city wide services to maximum effect within the 
targeted priority neighbourhoods. 

 

• To involve residents and their elected representatives in the design and management of intensive intervention 
via the Area Management infrastructure through local forums and Area Committees.  

 
Two of the priority themes within the Leeds Regeneration Plan are to `narrow the gap’ in Leeds by improving the 
housing conditions and to provide better quality environments in deprived areas which will last for future generations.  
The overall ethos of the plan is to ensure that no-one should be disadvantaged by where they live; therefore, in order to 
achieve this, measures need to be taken to reduce unemployment, improve the housing and the physical environment 
within all the disadvantaged and declining neighbourhoods within the city. Area Management’s district plans highlight 
the needs of the priority neighbourhoods throughout the city and, liveability in these targeted areas is a key priority. 
 
The empty property strategy will contribute towards these priorities, in some of the most deprived areas of Leeds, by 
assisting the improvement of housing stock that has been identified as being empty and causing concern or blight  to 
the area in which they are situated.  The work carried out by the Neighbourhoods and Housing Department and the 
other contributory Departments will include tackling environmental problems that arise through properties being left 
empty for long periods and which, in some cases, are bordering on dereliction.   

 

Tackling the problem of private sector empty properties 

The work that has been undertaken within the remit of the empty properties strategy includes: 

� PROACTIVE IDENTIFICATION of empty properties and their associated problems via the utilization of ‘on the 
ground surveys’ within the target areas and data obtained from council tax records. 

� PROACTIVE USE OF INFORMATION – database’s prompt making contact with owners of long-term empty 
properties in order to offer advice and assistance in returning their property back into re-habitation. 

� A PROACTIVE MULTI AGENCY APPROACH TO ENFORCEMENT ACTION - on problematical empty property 
i.e. Enforced Sale Procedure, CPO and Town and Country Planning Act 1990 Section 215, etc.   

� COST EFFECTIVE ADVERTISING OF EMPTY PROPERTY - for ‘accredited landlords’ via ‘Choice Based 
Letting’. 

� PROMOTION OF THE LEEDS ACCREDITATION SCHEME FOR THE PRIVATE RENTED SECTOR. 

Page 40



 
11 

� THE INVESTORS IN LEEDS REGISTER. - An initiative to match potential investors with owners of long-term 
empty property. 

� PUBLICITY - utilising various delivery vehicles such as promotional leaflets and the media especially with 
regard to successful enforcement action.   

Environmental Health Services have designated an officer within each of the five EHS area teams to act as a 
coordinator or ‘champion’ on matters relating to empty properties.   

The EHS empty property champions can help co-ordinate and focus work on empty properties in each area.  However, 
this work needs to be coupled with the wider approach to the regeneration of the priority neighbourhoods through 
coordinated intensive multi agency interventions. In particular, close working arrangements are established with Area 
Management Teams. 

In keeping with this approach, a successful bid against the Neighbourhood Renewal Funding regime has enabled the 
Environmental Health Service to engage / deploy an empty property enforcement team (an additional four members of 
staff) within the targeted areas of low demand at Cross Green, East End Park, Harehills and Chapeltown. This 
enforcement team works closely with Area Management to ensure that the work they undertake links into the Area 
Delivery Plans. 

 
The key activities of the Empty Property Enforcement Team are as follows: 
 

1. Proactively identify empty properties and their associated problems via the use of ‘on the ground surveys’ and 
data obtained from council tax records and the EHS area team’s empty property databases. 

 
2. Act upon referrals from a range of agencies, including the police and the fire service, regarding empty privately 

owned property that are open to unauthorised access and provide a rapid response to securing these 
dwellings thereby reducing the risk of arson and other criminal activities. 

 
3. Take the appropriate proactive or reactive enforcement approach in dealing with long-term problematic empty 

properties, i.e. Enforced Sale Procedure, Compulsory Purchase Orders, Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
Section 215 notices and actions around refuse and insecure empty properties. 

 
4. Intensify the number of informal and formal actions taken against owners of empty properties to encourage 

renovation and re-occupation. 
 

5. Coordinate their enforcement work with that of the other enforcement officers within the Development 
Department and City Services in order to maximise the effect of the enforcement action within the target areas. 

 
6. To promote and encourage Landlord Accreditation within the private rented sector. 

 
7. To roll out good enforcement practice to all the Environmental Health Area Teams. 

 
The combined effect of these actions should contribute to bringing about a more stable and less transient community 
within the targeted areas through:- 

� A reduction in the number of long-term private sector voids throughout the city and particularly within the 
targeted priority neighbourhoods at Cross Green, East End Park, Harehills and Chapeltown.  

� A rise in the house prices within the priority neighbourhoods bringing them in line with similar house types 
throughout the city. 

� A more sustainable housing market within the target areas. 

� Reducing the number of arson  attacks on private domestic empty properties 

� Improvement to the quality of life across a range of indicators that will start to attract inward investment - 
especially from the private sector. 

� To assist in safeguarding the public investment that has been / will be expended within these priority 
neighbourhoods. 

� To help to stop the spread of decline to neighbouring housing stock and neighbourhoods. 

� To assist in creating more confident neighbourhoods whereby the resultant stabilisation and increase in 
population will boost the local economy and enhanced the dynamics of the areas making them more viable and 
sustainable. 

 

 

Page 41



 
12 

 
 
 
Tackling the problem of empty properties within the social housing sector 

The 2010 completion date that has been set by central government for all social housing to meet the decency standard 

is looming ever nearer and option appraisals are being worked upon by the ALMO’s and RSL’s with a view to 

renovation, disposal or demolition to accomplish this.  

The Leeds ALMO's have already done a lot of good work in terms of empty properties, with voids reducing from 3% of 

total ALMO stock in 2002 to 1.75% at  31
st
 March 2006.  Nevertheless, the individual ALMO’s are starting to develop 

asset management strategies as part of their business plans and building cost models to outline future plans for all their 

stock, including their stock within the mixed tenure and ownership low demand areas.  The ALMO’s strategies outline 

plans for bringing stock up to the decent homes standard and plans for disposals of stock through right to buy, 

demolition and sale.The plans also identify links with regeneration schemes such as EASEL and PFI (see Appendix 1)    

 

 

Disposal of Council Miscellaneous Properties 

The Council owns 300 miscellaneous properties that are not directly managed by the Arm's-length Management 

Organisations. These dwellings have been leased out to a range of organisations that have provided temporary 

affordable housing.  

 

Organisations such as LATCH and CANOPY utilise these properties to provide accommodation for people who require 

a high level of support in terms of maintaining housing within the community. Furthermore, UNIPOL, in partnership with 

Registered Social Landlords such as Connect Housing are managing and providing a service to mature students who 

are pursuing further education. 

 
In 2006, the Department of Neighbourhoods and Housing is negotiating with these housing providers and discussing 
the renegotiation of the leasehold arrangements in order that a consistent approach can be taken in terms of the 
relationship with the Department and Housing Partners who lease this type of accommodation.  

 

Links to the Homelessness Strategy 

The core aim of the Leeds Homelessness Strategy 2006-2010 is to ensure that all households who are either 
homeless or threatened with homelessness are enabled to secure an outcome to their housing difficulty.  The strategy 
also includes targets set by Central Government such as the need to reduce temporary accommodation placements by 
50% by 2010.  Consequently, the strategy places a strong emphasis on promoting opportunities to prevent 
homelessness through effective advice and other intervention.  However, as it is recognised that such prevention 
opportunities will not always succeed, alternative accommodation options need to be available.  Historically, the 
conventional route out of homelessness was a letting by one of the Leeds ALMO’s.  The strategy recognises that the 
continuing contraction in ALMO managed stock, and the accompanying reduction in available homes to let, represents 
a significant challenge in terms of addressing homelessness in the city.  If the strategy is to succeed in meeting its 
objectives it will be essential to supplement the lettings made by the Leeds ALMO’s with those sourced from other 
landlords.  Whilst there may well be certain scope to increase the number of lettings from local RSL’s the strategy 
recognises that the private rented sector must be promoted as a viable tenure option.   
 
The Homelessness Strategy and Empty Properties Strategy must link to promote the private rented sector through the 
Landlord Accreditation Service as a viable tenure option and also identify opportunities where empty properties can be 
brought back into use and be utilised to re-house homeless households.  
 
 

Promotion of the Leeds Landlords Accreditation Scheme. 
 
The Private Rented Sector Strategy has two key elements: promoting and supporting responsible renting and taking 
firm action against negligent landlords who fail to meet their statutory obligations. The purpose of the Leeds Landlords 
Accreditation Scheme ( LLAS) is to support responsible renting and ensure that landlords and tenants are aware of 
their entitlements and respective responsibility towards one another and to promote good standards of accommodation 
and management. The criteria for the code of standards for the accreditation scheme have been chosen to reflect a 
balance of common sense obligations and responsibilities between landlords and tenants and set standards which are 
achievable without significant expenditure of time and money and without prejudice to their respective legal rights.  
 

Page 42



 
13 

A prerequisite of the Leeds Landlords Accreditation Scheme is that landlords are required to ensure that the physical 
condition of their property and the level of provision of basic amenities are reasonable and satisfactory and not liable to 
be prejudicial to the health and safety of the occupiers. Members of the accreditation scheme must ensure that they 
comply with their legal obligations in respect of the health, safety and welfare rights of their tenants.  
 
Members of the Leeds Landlords Accreditation Scheme are kept on the Leeds Landlords Accreditation Scheme 
register, the contents of which are to be generally available to the public. 
 
Members of the accreditation scheme who repeatedly breach the prescribed terms and conditions will be deleted from 
the Register and will no longer be regarded as participants of the scheme thereby forfeiting eligibility for any benefits or 
incentives offered to members of the scheme. 
 
The Empty Property Champions and Empty Property Enforcement Team actively encourage all private landlords they 
contact to become members of the Leeds Landlords Accreditation Scheme. Promotion of the Leeds Landlords 
Accreditation Scheme is vital to the Empty Property Strategy as this encourages a more professional private rented 
sector within the city that is more inclined and better able to fulfil the important niche in the Leeds housing market that 
they provide. 
 
Intelligence & Information.  
 
Comprehensive databases have been established and continue to be developed in order to ensure that accurate 
information is held regarding empty properties within the targeted `hot spots’ and throughout the rest of the city. 
 
These databases assist the targeting of resources in order to regenerate housing stock that is in poor condition, as well 
as aiding the forecasting of housing needs within the target areas of low demand. Furthermore, it assists in the 
formulation and targeting of strategies which are designed to resolve some of the contributory causes of empty 
property i.e. vandalism, crime and rubbish dumping etc.   
 
The databases also identify instances where property has been empty for over 6 months and they prompt a contact to 
be made with the owner / agent  so that an offer of assistance can be made to facilitate getting the property back into 
use more quickly. 
 

Changes to council tax discounts on empty properties 

In the 2003 Local Government Act, local authorities were given the discretionary right to abolish the long standing 
discount on council tax for empty property as it was argued that to continue with the discount would be a perverse 
incentive to encourage owners to keep property empty. 

A report of the Director of Corporate Services went to Council on 12
th
 January 2005 concerning the calculation of the 

council tax base for 2005/06 and it also addressed the issue of discounts on council tax for empty properties.  
Members decided to reduce the discount from 50% to nil in support of the corporate empty property strategy.   
 
This has proved to be a powerful leverage tool within the Empty Property Strategy as it has encouraged owners to 
make their properties available for occupation and contribute to both a reduction in homelessness and enhanced the 
regeneration  process within some of the worst areas of the city that have suffered from low demand. 

 
 
The use of statutory enforcement action. 
 
The Neighbourhoods and Housing Department and the Development Department have certain powers to deal with 
issues that are detrimental to property / locality and, the ethos of `joined up thinking’ and a co-ordinated approach to 
enforcement action upon long term void and problematical property is essential to the success of the Empty Property 
Strategy.  
 
The Local Authority has a number of options with regard to enforcement actions that it can adopt in cases where 
persuasion or the use of incentives have proved to be unsuccessful in dealing with owners of empty properties. 
 
These options range from securing open empty property against unauthorised access under Section 29 Local 
Government Act 1982 , and powers under Section 80 Environmental Protection Act 1990,  Section 59 Building Act 
1984 and Section 4 Prevention of Damage by Pests Act 1949 which can be utilised in dealing with problems of 
statutory nuisance, building defects, rodent problems and refuse accumulations. 
 
Where property is deemed to be uninhabitable and not being capable of repair a Closing Order or Demolition Order 
action can be taken. Building Control can utilise Section 79 Building Act 1984 - which requires the owner to reinstate 
the property or demolish within 56 days. 

Page 43



 
14 

 
Compulsory Purchase Orders are a useful device for Local Authorities, however, this type of action tends to shift the 
`burden of responsibility’ to the Council to resolve the under used property.  Therefore, an alternative and quicker 
option is to pursue Enforced Sale Orders in cases where owners are reluctant to address the problems that their empty 
property is causing the neighbourhood.  
 
The enforced sale procedure is a power given under the Law of Property Act 1925 (s103) without the need to go 
through the complicated procedure associated with Compulsory Purchase Orders. It can be used in conjunction with 
Works in Default where notices have been served on owners insisting the works be done. If these are ignored, then the 
local authority has the right to carry out the work in default of the notice served. However, Enforced Sale can only be 
utilised to recover this `debt’ where there is an outstanding `priority’ debt charge in favour of the Local Authority. 
 
Planning and Environmental Health Officers, under their delegated powers, can deal with the condition of land / 
property that adversely affects the amenity of an area under Section 215 of the 1990 Town & Country Planning Act. 
This particular Act enables the L.A. to serve a notice on a landowner or occupier, requiring that person to take such 
steps as are specified in the notice to remedy the condition of the land. However, It should be noted that the definition 
of “land” includes buildings and therefore it is a useful addition to the arsenal of legislation that can be utilised to 
address the problems caused by empty property. The notice requires the remedial action to be carried out within a 
specified period, usually not less than 28 days and, if the notice is not complied with, the person is liable to prosecution 
in the Magistrates Court under Section 216 of the Act.  
 

Enforcement powers granted to Local Authorities within the Housing Act 2004: - 

 
The Housing Act 2004 introduced a range of new enforcement options to allow Authorities to deal with hazards 
together with the ability to charge for its costs in taking enforcement action where this is appropriate. Many of the 
enforcement actions allow an Authority to undertake works if the enforcement notice is not complied with and to take 
action to recover its costs in so doing. 

 

The Housing Health and Safety Rating System 
 
The Housing Act 2004 was implemented on 6 April 2006 and it introduced a new risk based system to assess the 
suitability of housing called the Housing Health and Safety Rating System (HHSRS). This replaced the old fitness 
standard which had been the method of assessing housing for approximately 80 years although this was subject to 
some amendment over that time.  
 
HHSRS is based upon risk assessment against 29 defined hazards that may be found in a property. Housing 
practitioners are required to assess the likelihood of a hazard causing harm over a 12 month period and the health 
outcomes, should such an incident take place. Regard must be taken as to whether there are any vulnerable groups 
that may be affected by a hazard but, the methodology allows for a property to be rated whether it is occupied or not. 
The assessment leads to a score for a particular hazard and the score is then put into a series of bands ranging from 
A-J. Bands A-C are termed Category 1 hazards whilst bands D-J are termed Category 2 hazards. A Local Authority is 
under a duty to deal with any Category 1 hazard whilst it also has a power to deal with Category 2 hazards. 
 
Whilst predominantly applicable to occupied houses to protect the health and safety of residents the HHSRS allows 
vacant properties to be assessed as to their impact upon health and safety and places a duty on Local Authorities to 
take action where Category 1 hazards exist. 
  

Empty Dwelling Management Orders 
 
The Housing Act 2004 introduced two types of management order in relation to empty dwellings – “interim EDMO's” 
and “final EDMO's”. The purpose of an interim EDMO is to enable a Local Housing Authority to take steps to secure 
occupation of an empty dwelling with the consent of the owner. A final EDMO is made in succession to an interim 
EDMO (or a previous final EDMO) for the purpose of securing that a dwelling becomes and remains occupied, whether 
or not the owner of the dwelling consents.  
 
An interim EDMO does not have to be followed by a final EDMO. However, a final EDMO can only be made following 
an interim EDMO or a previous final EDMO. Under Section 134 of the Act a Residential Property Tribunal may 
authorise a Local Housing Authority to make an interim EDMO in respect of a dwelling that is unoccupied (except 
where the relevant proprietor is a public body) if :- 
  

1. it is satisfied that the dwelling has been wholly unoccupied for at least 6 months (or such longer period as may 
be prescribed); 

2.  there is no reasonable prospect of it becoming occupied in the near future; 
3.  that, if an interim EDMO is made, there is a reasonable prospect that it will become occupied;  
4.  that the authority have complied with section 133(3) of the Act; 

Page 44



 
15 

5.  that any prescribed requirements have been complied with; and 
6.  that it is not satisfied that the case falls within a prescribed exception. 

 
Under section 134(5) of the Act the “appropriate national authority” may by order prescribe the exceptions that the case 
may fall into, prescribe a longer time period that the dwelling must be unoccupied, and prescribe any other 
requirements that need to be complied with before an order may be authorised. The Secretary of State is empowered 
to make such an order in relation to England. The Housing (Empty Dwelling Management Orders) (Prescribed 
Exceptions and Requirements) (England) Order 2006 (SI 2006/367) has been made under these powers. Once an 
interim EDMO is approved by a Residential Property Tribunal, it will usually last for a maximum period of 12 months. A 
LHA cannot arrange occupation of the dwelling without obtaining written consent from the owner. Where such consent 
cannot be obtained, the interim EDMO may be revoked and replaced with a final EDMO made by the LHA. The making 
of a final EDMO does not require the approval of a Residential Property Tribunal. Once in force, it lasts for a fixed 
period of no more than seven years. The LHA does not require consent of the owner to grant occupation rights to the 
dwelling during the existence of a final EDMO. 
 
EDMO's are designed to operate along similar principles to private sector leasing arrangements. However, it is not the 
Government's intention that EDMO's should replace such arrangements. Indeed, it is expected that the availability of 
the power to make EDMO's will assist in procuring additional dwellings for leasing. Leasing arrangements are 
important in that they provide many of the necessary administrative structures that a LHA would have to establish in 
order to manage a dwelling under an EDMO. It is therefore recommended that prior to considering using EDMO's, 
LHA's set up leasing arrangements. LHA’s may seek partner arrangements with Registered Social Landlords or private 
sector managing agents to facilitate leasing schemes. These same arrangements may be used in the management of 
dwellings under EDMO’s. 
  
Leeds City Council will consider the aforementioned legislation within the context of its existing enforcement powers 
and judge whether to adopt this option, especially within areas of high housing demand and housing shortage and in 
support of the Homelessness strategy. 
 
 

Selective Licensing of the Private Rented Sector 

The Government has given new discretionary powers to local authorities enabling them to license private landlords in 
all, or part of, their area.  These new licensing powers are intended to add to the range of tools available to L.A.’s in 
tackling the problems of areas which suffer from antisocial behaviour and/or low housing demand. It is not a panacea 
but it should encourage landlords to take part in comprehensive local strategies to stabilise neighbourhoods that are in 
decline.  The Government’s primary aims are to ensure that all landlords meet minimum management standards and 
participate with others in dealing with anti-social tenants; and exclude unscrupulous landlords who will not meet 
minimum standards (or appoint suitable agents to achieve this on their behalf) or seek to let their properties. 

Local authorities can now seek the Secretary of State’s consent for such schemes. In the context of empty property 
this would normally be granted only for areas of low housing demand facing severe problems, though the Secretary of 
State would be prepared to consider a case for licensing in special circumstances outside such areas - if compelling 
reasons were advanced i.e. neighbourhoods that suffer from an abundant number of instances of severe anti social 
behaviour. The ability to license private landlords is a welcome addition to the local authorities’ powers to control the 
micro housing markets within their remit and, if utilised effectively, it could have a significantly beneficial impact upon 
all residents, landlords and agencies within the areas in which it is introduced.   
 
Leeds City Council is preparing business cases for possible submission to the Secretary of State to introduce Selective 
Licensing within the Beeston Hill, Holbeck and Cross Green districts. 

 

Promotion of the Empty Property Strategy via the Revenues Department / Council Tax 
 
Owners of long term empty properties are contacted by the Revenues Department / Council Tax officers as a matter of 
course and this is utilised as an opportunity to promote the empty property strategy on a city wide basis. 
 
Furthermore, it is essential to maintain the established points of contact (The Empty Property Champions & the Empty 
Property Team) in order to deliver advice / solutions to the owners of long term empty property who make contact as a 
result of the correspondence initiated by the Council Tax Office, as this facilitates returning empty property back into 
use outside the `intensively managed’ target areas.  

 
 
Free advertising for long term empty property 
 
An essential ethos of the strategy is to `kick start’ the failing housing market within areas of low demand by offering 
free advertising to owners or agents who represent long term empty homes. This initiative has been implemented via 

Page 45



 
16 

the utilisation of for sale / rent notice boards located within community venues that are available within the targeted 
areas of low demand.  
 
 

The Leeds Homes - Choice Based Letting Scheme 
 
This scheme was originally set up to provide prospective new customers with choice in the allocation of social housing 
through choice-based lettings and the adoption of local lettings polices  in order to ensure consistency and to help 
address the rising demand for housing and related `waiting lists’ and a reduction in unoccupied social housing. The 
initiative was also devised to help address the issues of imbalance and to prevent concentrations of disadvantaged 
groups.  
 
However, now that the scheme has become well established within the social housing sector and, because of the 
decrease in the supply of social housing in the city, it is considered appropriate to include `accredited’ private landlords 
within the CBL service in support of a truly holistic approach to housing provision throughout Leeds. Properties across 
both the social and the private rented sector are now advertised on a weekly basis via the weekly published flyer and 
upon the Leeds Homes website and this is proving to be successful, in that, empty property within these housing 
sectors are quickly turned around and re-occupied thereby making best possible use of the housing supply. 
 
 

The Investors in Leeds initiative 
 
The Investors in Leeds Register is an initiative devised by Leeds City Council to match private landlords and 
developers seeking to purchase empty properties in suitable locations. The initiative is available to landlords and 
developers, approved or ‘accredited’ under the Leeds Landlords Accreditation Scheme. In order to gain accreditation 
they need to meet a number of criteria, such as agreeing to respond to repairs within a set timescale.  
 
The initiative consists of a register of these selected investors who have expressed an interest in purchasing additional 
properties within Leeds into their portfolio. They are asked to declare which districts within the city they are interested in 
investing in and the details are then put onto the Investors in Leeds database. Owners of long-term empty properties 
are contacted throughout the targeted areas of low demand and issued with an area specific schedule of the 
appropriate investors in order that they can then consider contacting and negotiating the sale of their property with 
these interested parties. 
 
This initiative has proved to be an essential element to the Council’s Empty Property Strategy and has resulted in many 
dozens of empty properties returning back into use, especially in areas where local property agents show little interest 
in representing property.  

 
 
‘Linked’ initiatives with the Residential Social Landlords that are operating within the target 
areas. 
 
Housing Associations are the Local Authorities `natural’ partners in any regeneration process and their ability to lever in 
investment via such funding regimes as H.A.M.A., Short Life Program ( Mini - HAG ) and the main Housing Association 
Grant Program, are tried and tested initiatives / resources that can support the wider regeneration strategy. 
 
Furthermore, it has been imperative that the Housing Association’s that operate within Leeds `sign up’ to the empty 
property strategy in that they should agree to address, with due urgency, any problems that are identified as a 
consequence of the complaint referrals that Leeds City Council receives or any issues that are identified by `on the 
ground’ operational staff monitoring their empty property within the target areas.   
 
 

Creating `local ownership’ of the strategy through the establishment of empty property 
forums within the targeted areas of decline. 
 
A coordinated, multi agency / stakeholder `partnership’ approach is essential in addressing the problems associated 
with empty property and, to this end; an Empty Property Forum has been established within each of the targeted areas 
of low demand.  
 
This approach has been successful in drawing together all the various `stakeholders’ within the existing target areas in 
order to identify the problems that are being experienced across all tenure and ownership.  Notwithstanding this, these 
forums have also been utilised as a `sounding board’ and a `mechanism’ by which to gain agreement for the many 
proposals which have been put forward and implemented in formulating an all encompassing strategy that addresses 
the issues of empty property in a holistic manner. 
 

Page 46



 
17 

 
 
 
 
Participants of the Empty Property Area Forums: - 
 
Project Manager - Empty Property Strategy 
Area Management (for the specific target area) 
The Arms Length Management Organizations 
Environmental Health Services 
Development Department 
Registered Social Landlords 
Estate / Lettings Agents  
Private Sector Landlords  
Financial Institutions - Banks, Building Societies 
Developers 
Elected Ward Members & MP (for the specific target area) 
Community Leaders 
West Yorkshire Police 
West Yorkshire Fire Service 
Regeneration Partnership Unit 
Resident’s representatives  
Anti-social Behaviour Unit 
Neighbourhood Wardens 
 
This model of consultation should always be considered to be an essential element of setting up the Empty Property 
Strategy within any new target areas. 
 

 
Community safety. 
 
A profusion of empty properties signal the decline of an area and can help trigger an increase in criminal damage. 
Empty properties can be used by rough sleepers, squatters and drug users which can lead to the accumulation of 
drugs detritus within the area. 
 
The `on the ground approach’ to identifying empty property and any associated problems has played a vital and 
beneficial roll to ensuring the safety of the general public.  It has facilitated the early identification of rubbish 
accumulations which have historically been a problem within certain districts of the city and, the adoption of this policy 
has also played an indispensable roll in identifying potentially dangerous property within the target areas and facilitated 
a much quicker response to the securing of empty property that is open to unauthorised access.   

West Yorkshire Fire Service reported a marked increase in the number of arson attacks upon empty properties within 

certain parts of the city. 

This presents a serious community safety issue that could potentially result in fatalities, especially within the designated 

Urban Renewal Areas, where the properties were built pre 1919.  House types within these areas are usually back to 

back and through terrace properties and unfortunately, these types of dwellings do not have the benefit of a fire break 

wall within the roof void and this could potentially facilitate the spread of fire across an entire terrace. 

Furthermore, this type of construction presents the occupants with the serious problem of being vulnerable to 

burglaries because of the inter-linking roof void which is accessible via the loft hatches within each household. 

Residents are particularly vulnerable if a neighbouring property is empty and open to access. 

Under normal circumstances, any empty private property that is open to access would have to have a notice served 

upon the owner under section 29 – Local Government Miscellaneous Provisions Act 1976. The Local Authority cannot 

make arrangements to secure such property until the required 48 hours notice period has elapsed. However, the 

legislation does make provision for local authorities to act more expediently where it would be prejudicial to health not 

to do so.  As most arson cases occur within 24 hours of an empty property becoming insecure, a prompt response is 

required in high-risk areas.   

A new initiative has been developed by Environmental Health Services in partnership with West Yorkshire Fire and 

Police services to introduce a corporate policy for a 24/7 rapid response to re-securing private property that is found to 

be empty and open to unauthorised access within designated areas that are considered to be at a high risk of arson 

attack.  

 

Page 47



 
18 

 
 

Educational links and raising the awareness of young children to the potential dangers of 
empty properties. 
 
Forging links with local schools, community centres and youth groups within the targeted areas has facilitated the 
involvement of young people and children in the regeneration process of their district. This is essential as it engenders 
a sense of `ownership’ by the children / youths.  This exercise also facilitates `getting the message across’ to the 
children regarding the problems and dangers associated with empty property.  
 
Involvement with the local schools within the initial target area at Beeston proved most successful, in that, the schools 
willingly co-operated by incorporating the problems associated with empty property within their curriculum. The issues 
around empty property have been used as a `vehicle’ for various projects whereby the children gained considerable 
insight into housing and environmental topics and their `outputs’ have been utilised to form the basis of local 
exhibitions within the community and a `community book’ on the issues / dangers of empty property. This booklet has 
now been adopted by Leeds Education Authority as a `discussion document’ and it is being utilised for primary level 
curriculum work citywide.  
 
 
 

Links with other local authorities and national bodies 
 
The sharing of information and ideas regarding the problems associated with empty property is beneficial to the 
country as a whole and will undoubtedly assist the government in updating its nation-wide strategy. 
 
It is essential that Leeds City Council be kept informed and updated regarding the development of any successful 
empty property initiatives that are put into effect by other Local Authorities and National Bodies. To this end, Leeds City 
Council is more than prepared to continue its associations with any forums such as the Yorkshire & Humberside Empty 
Property Forum and the NAEPP Forum in order to share the experience / success stories that we have had in devising 
/ implementing the Empty Property Strategy for Leeds. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 48



 
19 

 
 

THE POSSIBLE RISK FACTORS FOR THE FUTURE  
 

  So far, the endeavours of the empty property strategy and other ‘joined up’ multi agency regeneration work have 
assisted in reversing the previously continual downward trend of house prices within the targeted areas of low demand 
and they now appear to be on a continual rise albeit that they are generally far lower than other comparable properties 
within the city. 

  Despite the successes that have been achieved by using the empty properties strategy within these targeted areas, the 
sustainability of these micro housing markets now appears to be fragile within certain neighbourhoods. If left without 
further regeneration activity we may witness another downward spiral in these micro housing markets that will 
undermine the efforts that have been made to achieve improvements. This potential for cyclic decline is perhaps most 
obvious in the Cross Green and East End Park districts. 

 The rise in house prices within all the targeted areas of low demand throughout the city is undoubtedly being driven by 
the ‘buy to let’ market and the availability of finance that has been established by the financial institutions to facilitate 
this sector of housing market investment. This trend is illustrated in statistics taken from the pilot target area at 
Beeston and Holbeck: 

In April 2000 there were 490 empty properties within the target area representing a 9.36% void rate. Of these 
12% were owned by private landlords, 64.8 % were owned by absentee owners and 23.20% were owned by the social 
housing sector. 

In April 2006 there were 218 empty properties within the target area representing a 4.17% void rate. Of these 
63.76% were owned by private landlords, 21.56%empty properties owned by absentee owners and 14.68% were 
owned by the social housing sector. 

  These market changes are symptomatic within all the areas of low demand throughout the city and they have provided 
positive growth in the equity available to local owner-occupiers within these areas.  The danger is that, with this new 
financial incentive, long term local resident owner-occupiers will sell up and move away from the neighbourhoods that 
still suffer from problems of anti-social behaviour, crime, unemployment and other indicators of multiple deprivation. 

   Furthermore, the properties that come onto the market within the areas of low demand throughout the city are 
increasingly purchased by either speculative buyers or private landlords and these micro housing markets have 
become out of kilter due to an ever expanding rented sector. If this situation is not addressed it could contribute to an 
ever more transient population with no vested interest in these communities / neighbourhoods.  Therefore, these 
trends will need to be addressed if we are to sustain the regeneration of these affected areas and maintain balanced 
communities. One option that Leeds Authority is considering in order to achieve this objective is the opportunities that 
are within the 2004 Housing Act through the new selective licensing arrangements. 

The ability to require that landlords are fit for purpose before they are allowed to be able to be a licence holder for a 
property within selected areas is a welcome addition to the local authorities powers to control the micro housing 
markets within their remit, if utilised effectively, it could have a significantly beneficial impact for all the residents, 
landlords and agencies within the areas in which it is introduced.   
 
However, there are possible risks that should be considered. As previously mentioned, Leeds City Council is preparing 
a business case to put to the Secretary of State to introduce Selective Licensing within the Beeston Hill, Holbeck and 
Cross Green districts. The anticipated long term benefits of implementing selective licensing i.e. a more professionally  
managed and appropriate private rented sector that  is sustainable and which links into the housing requirements for 
the city, may be adversely affected by the short term increase in empty properties that are generated by the landlords 
disposing of their investments prior to the licensing regime being introduced or, thereafter .  There may also be 
reservations amongst financial institutions to lend money for investment purposes in such areas if viewed negatively. 
Having said this, the possible disadvantages of this `short term pain’ should be far outweighed by the `long term gain’, 
in that, the targeted areas for selective licensing should become more sustainable and balanced micro housing 
markets. 

  The long established student market within North West Leeds and the extensive city centre development projects are 
beginning to be areas of concern in that there is growing evidence that the recent growth in these areas may prove not 
to be sustainable. There are several new purpose built developments of student accommodation being constructed 
within the city and this may create competition for the traditional student let accommodation areas. Moreover, an 
increasing proportion of the newly built and proposed high rise luxury accommodation within the city centre has been 
funded by financial institutions as part of their investment portfolios. Whilst they may still currently be able to realise the 
value of their investment due to the buoyant effect of the housing market and property value increases within Leeds a 
significant number remain unoccupied or un-purchased and future potential occupiers remain to be identified. 
Furthermore, despite the fact that these `investors’ are being charged 100% council tax on their empty investment 

Page 49



 
20 

property they are not deterred by this fact and continue to keep them void and, worryingly, there are plans for 
substantial numbers of additional residential properties in the city centre. 

The disproportionate number of empty properties within the city centre is graphically highlighted in the following chart 
which depicts a `snap shot’ of the number and distribution of voids on a ward by ward basis city-wide. 

This disturbing situation will need to be the focus of further intensive investigation and study in order to ensure that we 
do not allow this to become an acute problem for the future and research is being undertaken by Leeds University on 
these developments.  

However, should this situation continue to increase, as a consequence of the planed development within the city 
centre, the number of these additional empty `investment’ properties could impact on the CPA performance of the 
Authority due to the new KPI that has been introduced by Central Government. This newly introduced KPI takes effect 
from April 2007 and is a measurement by which the number of long term empty properties within the private sector is 
taken as a percentage against the total private sector housing stock. Should the proportion of long term empty 
properties be greater than the permissible threshold that has been set by Government, it could prove to be detrimental 
to the Leeds CPA rating.   

Moreover, a continuance of this trend could undermine all the good work that is being undertaken within the targeted 
areas of low demand and hinder Leeds City Council from achieving the corporate target of reducing the overall void 
rate to 3% of the total housing stock by 2010. 

The Homelessness Strategy 2006-2010 recognises the importance of engaging with the private rented sector as a 
viable long-term housing option for homeless households.  This work is essential in order to respond to the continuing 
reduction in the number of Arms Length Management Organisation lettings.   
 
A number of risks have been identified if the residual ALMO lettings can not be supplemented with those sourced from 
other tenures such as the private rented sector.  It is likely that homeless households will need to spend longer in 
temporary accommodation before they secure an ALMO letting.  The number of households placed in temporary 
accommodation would, in all likelihood, rise and this would mean additional costs being incurred by the Council in 
having to increase its use of bed and breakfast accommodation.   
 
Such an increase in temporary accommodation placements could prove disastrous especially as Central Government 
have set a target to reduce placements by 50% by 2010.  There is a finite supply of temporary accommodation in the 
city and therefore, if the number of temporary accommodation placements rise, a significant risk will emerge from the 
Council being unable to fulfil its legal duty to secure suitable temporary accommodation for homeless households.  
This risk will relate to the capacity of the Council in being able to secure any form of temporary accommodation but 
also the need to avoid using inappropriate forms of temporary accommodation such as bed and breakfast placements 
that should only be made as a last resort, and then, for no longer than six weeks.  
 
Under these circumstances, it is imperative that Leeds City Council endeavours to utilise every available property 
whether it be in the public or private domain and, to ensure that the Empty Property Strategy is both robust and able to 
bring back into occupation the wasted resource of long term empty properties throughout the city in order to facilitate 
this aspiration. 

0.00%

5.00%

10.00%

15.00%

20.00%

25.00%

A
D

E
L
 A

N
D

 W
H

A
R

F
E

D
A

L
E

A
L
W

O
O

D
L
E

Y

A
R

D
S

L
E

Y
 A

N
D

 R
O

B
IN

 H
O

O
D

A
R

M
L
E

Y

B
E

E
S

T
O

N
 A

N
D

 H
O

L
B

E
C

K

B
R

A
M

L
E

Y
 A

N
D

 S
T

A
N

N
IN

G
L
E

Y

B
U

R
M

A
N

T
O

F
T

S
 A

N
D

 R
IC

H
M

O
N

D
 H

IL
L

C
A

L
V

E
R

L
E

Y
 A

N
D

 F
A

R
S

L
E

Y

C
H

A
P

E
L
 A

L
L

E
R

T
O

N

C
IT

Y
 A

N
D

 H
U

N
S

L
E

T

C
R

O
S

S
 G

A
T

E
S

 A
N

D
 W

H
IN

M
O

O
R

F
A

R
N

L
E

Y
 A

N
D

 W
O

R
T

L
E

Y

G
A

R
F

O
R

T
H

 A
N

D
 S

W
IL

L
IN

G
T

O
N

G
IP

T
O

N
 A

N
D

 H
A

R
E

H
IL

L
S

G
U

IS
E

L
E

Y
 A

N
D

 R
A

W
D

O
N

H
A

R
E

W
O

O
D

H
E

A
D

IN
G

L
E

Y

H
O

R
S

F
O

R
T

H

H
Y

D
E

 P
A

R
K

 A
N

D
 W

O
O

D
H

O
U

S
E

K
IL

L
IN

G
B

E
C

K
 A

N
D

 S
E

A
C

R
O

F
T

K
IP

P
A

X
 A

N
D

 M
E

T
H

L
E

Y

K
IR

K
S

T
A

L
L

M
ID

D
L
E

T
O

N
 P

A
R

K

M
O

O
R

T
O

W
N

M
O

R
L
E

Y
 N

O
R

T
H

M
O

R
L
E

Y
 S

O
U

T
H

O
T

L
E

Y
 A

N
D

 Y
E

A
D

O
N

P
U

D
S

E
Y

R
O

T
H

W
E

L
L

R
O

U
N

D
H

A
Y

T
E

M
P

L
E

 N
E

W
S

A
M

W
E

E
T

W
O

O
D

W
E

T
H

E
R

B
Y

Page 50



 
21 

 

     

ISSUES THAT ARE BEING DEBATED NATIONALLY WHICH, IF IMPLEMENTED, 
MAY IMPACT UPON THE STRATEGY BEFORE ITS NEXT REVIEW IN 2010  

 

Central Government is continually looking at its strategy to address the issues regarding empty properties and to 
encourage a better use of the existing housing supply throughout the regions thereby eradicating the wasted housing 
resource that long term empty properties represent. The Government is giving consideration to the various proposals / 
ideas that are being put forward by focus groups and organisations such as the Empty Homes Agency, Shelter and 
other professional bodies like R.I.C.S. and N.A.E.P.P. 

These proposals have not, as yet, been ratified by government but, should this be the case, they will need to be 
considered for inclusion within the Empty Property Strategy prior to its next programmed review in 2010. 

The issues being proffered / considered are as follows:- 

Redfield Sites  
It is generally accepted that the sustainable communities plan makes the case for new housing supply to meet the 
needs of a changing population and that current levels of housing need and demand cannot be met solely from within 
the existing housing stock.  Building new houses is both essential and desirable. However, new housing comes at a 
cost. Even the greenest housing has an impact on the environment: generation of carbon dioxide, production of 
pollutants and loss of habitats for wildlife. There can also be costs to existing communities with the loss of amenity 
space, increased traffic congestion and adverse impacts on the viability of existing towns; inevitably there is a high 
demand for new houses that are built, but this can be at the expense of existing housing which can see a reduction in 
demand.  

A sustainable approach to meeting housing need must maximize the potential of the existing housing stock and 

encourage the reuse of empty buildings and a sequential approach to providing new housing can help achieve this. 

Firstly, is it possible to provide housing from existing buildings? Returning empty homes to use, conversions of 

redundant commercial buildings, and more efficient use of existing buildings? Secondly, is there potential for using 

previously developed land? And thirdly, only after the first two sources have been exhausted consider the potential for 

greenfield site development.   

 

There is already a target for the second of these options; the 60% brownfield site target, but most housing strategists 

believe that the brownfield site definition is too broad and doesn’t encourage the innovation and creativity needed to 

make the best use of existing buildings. Therefore, there should be a further target to encourage creating housing 

supply from existing buildings i.e. a `redfield’ site target to emphasise the sequence of redevelopment / new 

development i.e. redfield, brownfield, greenfield.  

 
 

• The Empty Homes Agency and NAEPP (National Association of Empty Property Practitioners) are 
lobbying government to consider including a target to be set for redfield sites.  

 

VAT 
One of the problems that exacerbates the re utilisation of redfield sites is that decisions are currently made within a 
skewed tax environment that favors new build housing over refurbishment. Whilst new build housing continues to 
attract a zero rate of VAT, refurbishment of most empty properties attracts the full 17.5% rate of VAT. It has been long 
argued (by the Empty Homes Agency and Empty Property Practitioners) that there should be a level playing field that 
would remove this barrier to redevelopment of existing empty properties.  
 
The Government has made some welcome changes to the VAT legislation in recent years in order to give an incentive 
to bringing empty properties back into use.  They reduced VAT on refurbishment costs on homes that have been 
empty for between 3 and 10 years to 5% and for homes empty for more than 10 years the VAT is zero-rated. However, 
it is currently argued that this hasn’t gone far enough as the refurbishment of the majority of empty properties still 
incurs 17.5% VAT.   It should be noted that 87% of all empty properties in England have been empty for less than three 
years and, only 3% have been empty for more than ten years that could benefit form the zero rate VAT.  

 

• The Empty Homes Agency and NAEPP are lobbying Government to create a level playing field and 
harmonize VAT between new build and refurbishment.  

 
 
 
 

Page 51



 
22 

 
 

Capital Gains Tax 
Nothing helps getting empty properties back into use like the change of ownership. However property transactions 
mean potential buyers and sellers incur taxes, which act as a disincentive. A recent MORI poll showed 77% of owners 
of empty properties did not want to sell their property, despite many of them having no other alternative plans.  
 
Owners of empty properties are liable for capital gains tax (CGT) on the increase in value of their asset from the initial 
purchase price if the property they sell is not their primary residence. This is for the simple reason that an owner can’t 
claim the “main home” exemption.  With many empty property owners having purchased their property many years ago 
the capital gain and therefore the tax, amounts to a sizeable sum. Illogical as it may seem, this acts as a strong 
disincentive to selling the property; owners often prefer to sit on an asset regardless of whether they can realise its 
value. The continuance of CGT on long term empty property sales could create a perverse incentive for owners to 
keep property empty in order not to incur these costs.  
 

• The Empty Homes Agency and NAEPP are lobbying the Government to instigate a well publicised and 
time-limited moratorium on CGT for long-term empty properties in order to entice additional properties into 
the market.  

 

Stamp Duty 
Arguably, the most efficient developers of individual empty houses are prospective homeowners. With 90% of the 
population aspiring to home ownership there is potential for many people to resolve their own housing needs. 
Redeveloping empty properties is difficult and expensive for many large developers. The diversity of the properties and 
their condition means they cannot realise the economies of scale that can be achieved on new-build developments.  
These obstacles are not faced by individuals developing one property,  
 
If prospective homeowners are to be encouraged to develop empty homes that are often run down / derelict, they need 
to be given the required incentive, in that, their costs need to be reduced relative to other routes into home-ownership. 
One way of achieving this is by removing stamp duty on long-term empty properties. This would encourage 
transactions of properties that would otherwise be unlikely to be sold.  
 

• The Empty Homes Agency and NAEPP are lobbying the government to review stamp duty and consider 
exempting purchases of long-term empty properties that are acquired for refurbishment and reoccupation.  

 

Council tax  
The Local Government Act 2003 gave local authorities the discretionary right to abolish the long-standing discount on 
council tax on empty homes.  However there are still two areas where The Empty Homes Agency and NAEPP believe 
changes could result in more empty properties being returned to use.  
  

1. They argue that the Government missed an opportunity when the recent changes were made - by not 
specifying that the extra revenue raised by the L.A.’s should be `ring fenced’ in order to fund empty 
property work. The Empty Homes Agency and NAEPP are now urging them to stipulate that the additional 
revenue generated by these changes should be channeled into tackling empty property.  

 
2. Secondly, there remains an exemption from council tax for properties that are considered uninhabitable.  

These are generally the worst eyesores that tend to attract vandals, fly tipping and other anti-social 
behaviour. Not only does the current council tax system give owners no incentive to deal with uninhabitable 
buildings, it arguably gives them an incentive to make their property uninhabitable so as to qualify for the 
exemption.  

 
Leeds now charges 100% council tax on all long term empty properties and this has had a markedly positive impact in 
reducing the number of long term voids throughout the city, especially within the designated areas of low demand. 
However, the recent changes to council tax legislation are proving to be insufficient to deter some owners from leaving 
their property empty for long periods, as they are still prepared to keep the property unused despite having to pay the 
100% council tax.  
 

• The Empty Homes Agency and NAEPP believe there is merit in the Government reconsidering the council 
tax system again, in that, long term problematical empty properties should be able to be charged at the 
rate of 200% (at the L.A.’s discretion) due to the negative impact they cause upon the neighbourhoods in 
which they exist.  

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 52



 
23 

 
 

THE BENEFITS THAT HAVE BEEN GAINED BY ADOPTING THE STRATEGY  

 

There are a number of benefits that have accrued from linking the strategy on empty homes to the wider 

regeneration agenda:  

� A reduction in the number of long-term private / social housing sector voids throughout the city and particularly 
within the targeted priority neighbourhoods. An example of this is the Beeston and Holbeck target area where 
the void rate has been reduced from over 15% in 1999 to 2.2% as of July 2006. 

� A rise in the house prices within the priority neighbourhoods i.e. In 1999, the average house prices for a 
through terraced house in the Beeston area was  less than £2,000 whereas, in July 2006 the average price has 
risen to over £65,000. 

� A more sustainable housing market within these areas. 

� Improvement to the quality of life across a range of indicators that will start to attract inward investment - 
especially from the private sector. 

� The public investment that has been / will be expended within these priority neighbourhoods is more likely to be     
safeguarded. 

� It has helped to stop the spread of decline to neighbouring housing stock and neighbourhoods. 

� It has assisted in creating more confident neighbourhoods whereby the resultant stabilisation and increase in 
population has boosted the local economy and enhanced the dynamics of the areas making them more viable 
and sustainable. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 53



 
24 

 

THE VISION AND CORPORATE TARGETS FOR THE STRATEGY  

 

• To assist the Council’s agenda in bringing the benefits of our prosperous, vibrant and attractive city to all the 

people and districts of Leeds. 

• To reduce the void rate across all tenure / ownership to not more than 3% of the total housing stock by 2010. 

• To ensure that no ward has a void rate of more than 2% above the city wide void rate by 2010. 

• To ensure the percentage of private sector homes that are vacant for more than 6 months is no more than 

2.69% of the total private sector housing stock. This figure will then be adjusted to reflect the index of multiple 

deprivation within Leeds. This target will need to be achieved at the 1
st
 of April annually to ensure that Leeds 

maintains its current 4 star CPA rating.   

• To annually return to occupation not less than a prescribed number of long term empty private sector 

properties as a consequence of the local authority’s direct intervention utilising the BVPI64 criterion. 

• To monitor and regularly report achievement against targets in the Empty Property Action Plan detailed in the 

attached appendix. Periodically and at least annually review and update the Action Plan through the Empty 

Property Forum. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 54



 
25 

 
 
 
 

Appendix 1 
 

Arms Length Management Organisations - contributions to the Empty Property Strategy 
 

Leeds North East Homes, ALMO  
 

Leeds North East Homes have created a dedicated lettings team and demonstrate strong performance in its 

management of empty property with only c. 1% of its 6,000 homes empty at any one time. 

 

Due to the high levels of housing demand from all market segments the Leeds North East District Housing Partnership 

has amongst its primary strategic aims the requirement to increase the availability of housing in the District. In 

delivering this aim there is a particular emphasis to increase the access to and affordability of social housing. 

 

Land prices and site availability significantly restrict the ability to build new social housing in the district and so working 

with private developers and private landlords to increase the levels of new build is paramount. Mixed tenure 

developments, making best use of existing stock and bringing empty properties back in to use is the main avenue open 

to the partnership to achieve this. 

 

The Partnership believe that regeneration initiatives, not solely focused on the provision of housing but also on the 

leverage of private investment into the priority areas will help increase the desirability of key locations, improve 

liveability and reduce the level of empty properties in the area. 

 

The North East District Partnership has commissioned GVA Grimleys to undertake an appraisal of the Chapeltown 

Road corridor. This area acts as a gateway into the city centre and is the central hub of the Chapeltown community. 

The area has a great deal of commercial, investment and architectural merit. Grimley's report is at final draft stage and 

is to be presented to the District Partnership's Executive Board in late July 2006. Its draft proposals include bringing 

derelict properties back into use and creating new housing developments. 

 

Leeds North East Homes second priority area is the Beckhill estate. The area surrounding Beckhill Avenue is blighted 

by a small number of properties which suffer high turnover and are difficult to let. Those properties empty consist of 

flats, sheltered bed-sit accommodation and maisonettes. There are a number of social, economic and design issues 

which contribute to this issue. LNEH are working with LCC’s Area Management Team, Planning, Groundwork Leeds 

and other key partners to undertake an option appraisal of these units and the surrounding area with a view to forming 

a strategic regeneration plan for the estate. 

 

Leeds West Homes, ALMO  
 

The Leeds West Homes strategy stems around a combination of improvements, clearance and redevelopment, 

supported by an effective process in re-letting property. 

 

The main regeneration in the West of the city centres on the West Leeds Gateway regeneration area and embraces 

three council owned estates. The main area is the New Wortley estate which includes properties on the Clyde’s, 

Holdforth's and Brace’s, and First and Second Avenue. The estates consist of low rise system built properties on the 

Reborn layout, and 4 Wimpy multi storey blocks. There are 580 low rise properties of which 210 (36%) have been sold.  

Within this number are 5 blocks of cluster flats (30 units) that are vacant awaiting disposal. There is low turnover in the 

houses, around 2%. Turnover in the 4 multi storey blocks is high around 50% per annum. 

 

The 3 options emanating from the Atkins report are: 

 

Minimum: Improve existing properties 

Moderate: Some estate redesign and treatment of the multi storey flats. 

Major: Clear the whole area and redevelop. 

 

Planning, LWH and Area Management are scheduled to start consulting residents on the options in Sept 2006. 

 

Linked in to the Gateway are 2 vacant sites at Mistress Lane and Highfields. 

Page 55



 
26 

 

The other regeneration areas focus around: 

Fairfield’s (Bramley) - Improvements and Clearance 

Waterloo (Pudsey) - Improvements and Clearance 

Walmer Grove (Pudsey) - Clearance 

 

A review of the Retirement Housing has been completed and Leeds West Homes are looking at the refurbishment of  

Sir Karl Cohen Square (Armley) and clearance in Chaucer Gardens (Pudsey), coupled with developing floating support 

for  Whincover Grange (Wortley) 

 

In order to maximise re-lets LWH has crated a centralised lettings team + empty property surveying team working from 

the Property Repairs partner's offices. 

 

It should be noted that the number of potential clearance properties in the next 5 years, which will be generated from 

the redevelopment areas in the west, could be in the region of 1300 properties dependent on the scale of 

redevelopment at New Wortley and Fairfield. 

 

Leeds South Homes, ALMO  
 
Leeds South Homes are partners to the Council's 5th round Public Private Finance Initiative expression of interest for 

Beeston Hill and Holbeck. The bid proposes the demolition of 610 Council owned dwellings, the refurbishment of 452 

Council dwellings to decency standard, the conversion of 127 Council dwellings and the construction of 200 new build 

Council owned dwellings. Aligned to this bid for public sector housing regeneration, the Council, with the support of the 

South Leeds Regeneration Board, has been successful in securing funding from the Regional Housing Board for major 

investment in the regeneration of Beeston and Holbeck. In 2006/8 there will be in the order of £10 million public funds 

available to support a wide range of regeneration projects. 

 

Leeds South Homes', Beeston Hill and Holbeck Housing strategy is committed to the long term objectives of 

transformational change for this area and in addition to the PPFI expression of interest  LSH are working in partnership 

with South Area Management and the private sector housing renewal team on the acquisition and disposal of 

properties in the Beverley's and group repair in the Wickham's.  

 

In Middleton, Leeds West Homes are working with Re'new and the South Area Management on developing a 

prospectus for the regeneration of the area; this includes Central Middleton, Westwood’s and Manor Farms. The 

regeneration of the area will focus on both service delivery and sustainable physical development, seeking to develop a 

mixed tenure community. It is likely that the proposals will include remodelling and demolition options seeking to 

provide alternative social housing options around affordable housing for rent and low cost home ownership. 

 

A priority within the current option appraisal work is the review of sheltered housing complexes and responding to the 

housing needs of elderly people in the area which may include the demolition / disposal of unsatisfactory bed-sit 

accommodation to be replaced by alternative support packages to allow the elderly to live independently in their own 

homes.  

 

The Leeds South Homes plans are part of the wider South Leeds District Housing Strategy and South Leeds 

Regeneration Plan. 

 

Leeds East Homes, ALMO 

Leeds East Homes have reduced the level of empty council properties within east Leeds from 2.6% of the stock they 

managed in 2002/03 to 1.95% in 2005/06.  The objective is to reduce this level further to 1.8% of the stock by the end 

of 2006/07.  This has been / will be achieved by improvements to the re-letting process and selective demolition of 

unpopular and/or defective properties as a forerunner to the EASEL Regeneration programme.  Demand for properties 

in east Leeds is at an all time high due to the work that has been done to bring properties up to the Decent Homes 

Standard and also the work that has been undertaken to reduce anti-social behaviour and a greater awareness of 

property availability resulting from Choice Based Lettings.   

 

Over the fifteen to twenty years anticipated life span of EASEL it is estimated that up to 2000 Council properties could 

be demolished, with more than twice as many new properties being built to replace them.  Part of the EASEL 

programme will include interventions aimed at improving the Victorian terraces in the Harehills area where there are still 

pockets of unpopular empty properties in both the public and private sectors.   

 

Page 56



 
27 

The work of East Leeds ALMO is integral to regeneration plans for priority areas in Harehills and Cross Green which 

has seen the recent successful bid for funding from the Regional Housing Board to support cross tenure initiatives. In 

2006/8 there will be in the order of £7 million public funding available which will be primarily used to acquire and replace 

obsolete or long term void properties. 

 

Leeds North West Homes, ALMO 

Leeds North West Homes void levels fluctuate between 1.5 to 1.7 % of its housing stock.  Across their management 

area the highest proportion of voids is within Otley and this is mainly due to the high percentage of sheltered 

accommodation in the district, The Little London area has the second highest void rate.  The percentage of voids varies 

across the LNWH Neighbourhood Housing Office areas from 2.5 % at Otley down to 1.1% in Aireborough   

 

 

There are three main themes that Leeds North West Homes are following: 

  

1. Option Appraisals for low demand or high investment cost properties.   
 
The main areas here are:- 

 

Little London Regeneration Scheme (including a proposed PPFI) will seek to regenerate an area with 3 of the identified 

'super output areas' of deprivation in the City. The plan has sought to propose an approach that will retain two thirds of 

the current Council stock to allow for the creation of new housing (including 125 new council dwellings), diversify tenure 

to create a more vibrant and sustainable community by seeking to dispose of 3 Multi Storey Flats blocks for 

refurbishment for low cost sale and the refurbishment of the remaining housing stock.   

 

The plan will involve the demolition of 150 high investment cost dwellings - multi storey flats and maisonettes, and the 

re-housing of up to 450 households, mainly within the immediate area over a period of time. A review of the sheltered 

housing complexes is underway. These complexes contain a mixture of bed-sit, one bedroom and two bedroom 

accommodation and are in need of upgrading beyond the scope of the Decent Homes standard.  

 

The 9 complexes of sheltered bed-sits (171 units) within the LNWH’s housing stock present the greatest challenge with 

little or no demand for these properties when they are advertised.  The sheltered accommodation review will look at 

options for conversion of the low demand accommodation as well as possible options for clearance and disposal. 

Disposal is seen as the least popular option, but it must be considered if the reconfiguration of these complexes is not 

sustainable within the resources that are likely to be available.  

  

2. Reducing the actual number of properties that are empty at any one time 
 
The overall number of properties empty at any one time has reduced, to a level of between 1.5% and 1.7 % of the 

stock, some 170 dwellings at any one time. 

 

To maintain a low level of empty properties, a number of strategies are employed, including minimising the time that it 

takes to repair and re-let a home once vacated, requiring the issue of 4 weeks notice from tenants vacating homes 

together with the use of pre-termination visits (to allow proper planning for necessary works and advertising of homes 

coming available for re-letting). The use of an agreed 'letting standard'  ensures that properties are in a reasonable 

condition and available for habitation as early as possible after acceptance of the tenancy and the use of re-housing 

visits to help secure a  more successful acceptance rate of the properties that are offered for let.    

 

3. Reducing turnover of tenancies and seeking greater tenancy sustainability. 
 
Leeds North West Homes are seeking to reduce the number of empty homes at any one time, but also to reduce the 

turnover of accommodation, by seeking to ensure that the homes people move to are the homes that they wish to live 

in by the utilization of the Choice Based Letting process. Accompanied viewings also ensure that the home offered is 

the right choice for the customer.  

 

Page 57



 
28 

Leeds North West Homes have a range of strategies designed to support the neighbourhoods within its remit. 

Environmental and community safety action through the support of PSCO’s and Neighbourhood Warden initiatives link 

their work with Area Management and Area Committees through the  support of local tenant and resident groups, 

estate walkabout initiatives, environmental caretaker teams and the neighbourhood initiatives such as Operation 

APOLLO. Furthermore, tenancy sweeps to ensure that previously evicted ASBO tenants are not inadvertently re-

housed, coupled with other  assistance / support on a range of anti-social behaviour initiatives and mediation initiatives 

has ensured that the level of ASB has decreased thereby helping to create confident communities within the 

neighbourhoods. 

 

Page 58



Page 1 of 3  

Appendix 2 
 

EMPTY PROPERTY ACTION PLAN 
2006 – 2010 

 
Theme Key Task By When Milestone 

2006/07 
Milestone 
2007/08  

Milestone 
2008/09 

By Whom Progress 
to date 

Corporate and 
Departmental 
support for the 
strategy 

Departmental 
representatives to seek 
commitment to the 
Empty Property Strategy 
in their Departmental 
Service Plans, including 
acknowledgement of 
potential resources 
implications. 
 

September 
2006 

 

   Inter-Departmental 
representatives 

 

Leeds West 
Homes ALMO 
have produced 
an Empty 
Homes 
Strategy 
Corporate 
Empty 
Property 
Strategy 
currently under 
review 
 

Intelligence 
through data 
exchange and 
reporting 
arrangements 

Maintain the current  
arrangements for data to 
be provided to 
Environmental Health 
Services. 

 

Ongoing    Financial Services 
 

Revenues Div 
providing 
monthly 

extract from 
Academy 
database 

 

 Continue to undertake 
the proactive 
identification and 
reporting of empty 
properties, especially in 
priority areas. 

Ongoing    EHS 
Financial Services 

Neighbourhood 
Wardens 

Planning/Building 
Control 

City Services 
ALMOs 

Ongoing 

Evaluate 
performance 
against the 
agreed targets for 
reducing empty 
property 

To achieve the BVPI 64 
target, i.e. to return not 
less than 1000 long-
term empty private 
residential properties 
back into habitable use 
by the direct 
intervention of the Local 
Authority. 
 

Ongoing 
 

Not less 
than 1000 

 

Not less 
than 3000 
since April 

2007 
 

Not less 
than 5000 
since April 

2007 
 

Inter-Departmental 
representatives 
(monitoring and 

reports undertaken 
by J Hough) 

 

Performance 
monitored at 

Empty 
Property 

Forum working 
group 

meetings 

 

 
To reduce the void rate 
across all tenures to not 
more than 3% of the 
total housing stock by 
2010. (Housing 
Strategy Target) 

 

2010 

 

Reduce the 
number of 
empty 
properties 
(all tenures) 
to not more 
than 4.5% of 
the total 
stock  

 

Reduce the 
number of 
empty 
properties 
(all tenures) 
to not more 
than 4% of 
the total 
stock  

 

Reduce the 
number of 
empty 
properties 
(all tenures) 
to not more 
than 3.5% of 
the total 
stock  

 

Ditto 
 currently at 

5.47% as of 
15/06/2006  

 

 
To ensure that no ward 
has a void rate of more 
than 2% above the city 
wide void rate by 2010. 

 

2010 
 

4.5% 
 

3.5% 
 

2.5% 
 

Ditto 
 Performance 

monitored at 
Empty 

Property 
Forum working 

group 
meetings 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 59



Page 2 of 3  

 
 

Theme Key Task By When Milestone 
2006/07 

Milestone 
2007/08  

Milestone 
2008/09 

By Whom Progress 
to date 

 
To ensure the 

percentage of private 

sector homes that are 

vacant for more than 6 

months is no more than 

2.69% of the total 

private sector housing 

stock. This figure will 

then be adjusted to 

reflect the index of 

multiple deprivation 

within Leeds.  

(CPA target) 

 

Ongoing 2.69% 2.69% 2.69% Inter-Departmental 
representatives 
(monitoring and 

reports undertaken 
by J Hough) 

 

Performance 
monitored at 

Empty 
Property 

Forum working 
group 

meetings 

 

 To monitor the 
performance and 
contributions made to 
returning long term void 
properties throughout 
the city which are within 
the remit of the    
ALMO’s (within the 
targeted areas of low 
demand). 

 

Ongoing    ALMO’s Ditto 

 Monitor the number of 
lettings made by the 
Council’s Private Sector 
Lettings Scheme of long 
term void properties.   
 

Ongoing    Bridget Emery Ditto 

Identify & develop 
opportunities for 
further joint 
initiatives 

To identify the issues 
which adversely impact 
upon the Leeds housing 
market and have a 
joined-up approach to 
devising strategies 
which will address these 
issues. 
 

Ongoing 
 

   Inter-Departmental 
representatives 

 

Review 
progress at 

Empty 
Property 
Forum 

steering group 
meetings 

 

 
To have a corporate 
approach to 
enforcement action upon 
empty property and to 
ensure `best fit’ in 
pursuing enforcement in 
order to deal with the 
specific issues around 
each individual case. 

 

Ongoing    Inter-Departmental 
representatives 

 

Ditto 

 
To review the corporate 
approach to advertising 
the availability of empty 
property throughout the 
city, i.e. utilisation of the 
Choice Based Letting 
vehicle. Monitor the take 
up of the service by 
members of the Leeds 
Landlords Accreditation 
Scheme. 
 

March 2007    Linda Sherwood Ditto 

 
 
 

Page 60



Page 3 of 3  

Theme Key Task By When Milestone 
2006/07 

Milestone 
2007/08  

Milestone 
2008/09 

By Whom Progress 
to date 

 Improve the promotion 
and dissemination of  
information regarding 
the issues surrounding 
empty properties and 
low demand / decline. 

Ongoing    Inter-Departmental 
representatives 

 

Review 
progress at 

Empty 
Property 
Forum 

steering group 
meetings 

 

 Adopt local empty 
property action plans 
for agreed priority areas 
and review progress 
against specific local 
performance measures 

December 
2006 

As specified 
in individual 

plans 
 

Review 
targets and 

update plans 
not less than 

annually 

ditto ditto Inter-Departmental 
representatives 

 

Review 
progress at 

Empty 
Property 
Forum 

steering group 
meetings 

 

 
Group members to 
agree to adopt and 
follow an enforcement 
concordat within the 
agreed target areas. 

September 
2006 

   Inter-Departmental 
representatives 

 

Review 
progress at 

Empty 
Property 
Forum 

steering group 
meetings 

 

 

Page 61



Page 62

This page is intentionally left blank



 
Report of the Head of Scrutiny and Member Development 
 
Scrutiny Board (Neighbourhoods and Housing) 
 
Date:  11th October 2006  
 
Subject: Work Programme 
 

        
 
 
1.0  INTRODUCTION 
 
 

1.1 Attached at appendix 1 is the current work programme of the Board which includes 
scheduled and unscheduled items. 

 
1.2 The Forward Plan for October to January 2007 is at appendix 2. 

 
 
2.0 RECOMMENDATION 
 

2.1 The Board is requested to receive and make any changes to the attached work 
programme following discussions at today’s meeting. 

 

Specific Implications For:  

 
Ethnic minorities 
  
Women 
 
Disabled people  
 
Narrowing the Gap 

Electoral Wards Affected:  

 

 

 

 

Originator: S Winfield  
 
Tel: 24 74707  

 

Agenda Item 13

Page 63



Page 64

This page is intentionally left blank



SCRUTINY BOARD (NEIGHBOURHOODS AND HOUSING) - WORK PROGRAMME - LAST REVISED SEPTEMBER 2006 

Appendix 1 

ITEM DESCRIPTION NOTES DATE ENTERED 
INTO WORK 
PROGRAMME 

Suggested Areas for Scrutiny Currently Unscheduled  

Partnership 
working – District 
Partnerships and 
Area Delivery 
Plans 
 

   

Supporting 
People 
 

   

Meeting date:  8th November 2006 

Inquiry into 
Regeneration in 
Beeston Hill and 
Holbeck 

To discuss the Board’s final report and 
recommendations 

  

Partnership 
working – Safer 
Leeds 
 

To receive information on the Safer 
Leeds Partnership 

  

Meeting date:  6th December 2006  
EASEL update    

    
    
    

Meeting date: 10th  January 2007 

Lettings Policy 
Update 

To receive an update on the local Lettings 
Policy  

  

    
    
    

P
a
g
e
 6

5



SCRUTINY BOARD (NEIGHBOURHOODS AND HOUSING) - WORK PROGRAMME - LAST REVISED SEPTEMBER 2006 

ITEM DESCRIPTION NOTES DATE ENTERED 
INTO WORK 
PROGRAMME 

    

Meeting date:  7th February 2007 

    
    

Meeting date:  7th March 2007  
    
    

Meeting date: 11th  April 2007  
Annual Report To agree the Board’s contribution to the 

Scrutiny Annual report 
 June 2006  

    
    
    

    
    

 
 
 

P
a
g
e
 6

6



LEEDS CITY COUNCIL 
 

FORWARD PLAN OF KEY DECISIONS 
 
For the period 1 October 2006 to 31 January 2007 
 

Key Decisions Decision Maker Expected 
Date of 

Decision 

Proposed  
Consultation 

Documents to be 
Considered by Decision 

Maker 

Lead Officer 
(To whom 

representations should 
be made) 

LCC Empty Property 
Strategy 2006-2010 
Approval of Strategic 
Document 

Executive Board 
(Portfolio: 
Neighbourhoods 
and Housing) 
 

18 Oct 2006 Previously undertaken 
 
 

The report to be issued to 
the decision maker with the 
agenda for the meeting 
 

Director of 
Neighbourhoods and 
Housing 
 

Acquisition of additional 
commercial premises in the 
Beverleys Regeneration 
area 
Approval of 
recommendation not to 
acquire these premises at 
the current time. 

Executive Board 
(Portfolio: 
Neighbourhoods 
and Housing) 
 

18 Oct 2006  
 
 

The report to be issued to 
the decision maker with the 
agenda for the meeting 
 

Director of 
Neighbourhoods and 
Housing 
 

Regeneration of Holbeck 
Authorisation of scheme 
expenditure to the amount 
of £2.95m. Authorise 
officers to commence 
acquisition of properties by 
voluntary agreement.  

Executive Board 
(Portfolio: 
Neighbourhoods 
and Housing) 
 

18 Oct 2006  
 
 

The document to be issued 
to the decision maker with 
the agenda for the meeting 
 

Director of 
Neighbourhoods and 
Housing 
 

P
a
g
e
 6

7



 
Key Decisions Decision Maker Expected 

Date of 
Decision 

Proposed  
Consultation 

Documents to be 
Considered by Decision 

Maker 

Lead Officer 
(To whom 

representations should 
be made) 

Leeds Affordable Warmth 
Strategy 
To approve the plan to 
deliver services to assist 
low income households to 
keep warm affordably.  

Executive Board 
(Portfolio: 
Neighbourhoods 
and Housing) 
 

13 Dec 
2006 

Two workshops in 
September and 
October. Draft plan to 
public comment in late 
October.  
 
 

Affordable Warmth Strategy 
 

Director of 
Neighbourhoods and 
Housing 
 

10th Home Energy 
Conservation Act Report 
For information only. 
Report identifies the 
improvements in energy, 
heating and insulation to all 
areas of the City in the 
2005/06 period.  

Director of 
Neighbourhoods 
and Housing 
 

24 Jan 2007 None. 
 
 

10th Home Energy 
Conservation Act Report 
 

Director of 
Neighbourhoods and 
Housing 
 

 

P
a
g
e
 6

8



 
 
NOTES 

 
Key decisions  are those executive decisions: 

• which result in the authority incurring expenditure or making savings over £500,000 per annum, or 

• are likely to have a significant effect on communities living or working in an area comprising two or more wards 
 

In cases where Key Decisions to be taken by the Executive Board are not included in the Plan,  5 days notice of the intention to take 
such decisions will be given by way of the Agenda for the Executive Board meeting.  

Executive Board Portfolios Executive Member 
 

Central and Corporate Councillor Mark Harris 

Development Councillor Andrew Carter 

City Services Councillor Steve Smith 

Neighbourhoods and Housing Councillor John Leslie Carter 

Leisure Councillor John Procter 

Children’s Services  (Lead) Councillor Richard Brett 

Children’s Services (Support) Councillor Richard Harker 

Adult Health and Social Care Councillor Peter Harrand 

Customer Services Councillor David Blackburn 

Leader of the Labour Group Councillor Keith Wakefield 

Advisory Member Councillor Judith Blake 

 

P
a
g
e
 6

9



Page 70

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	6 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING
	7 MINUTES OF THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
	8 MINUTES OF THE EXECUTIVE BOARD
	9 MINUTES OF THE THRIVING COMMUNITIES CORPORATE PRIORITIES BOARD
	10 EMPTY PROPERTY STRATEGY
	Empty Prop App 1
	Empty Property Stgy App2 doc

	13 WORK PROGRAMME
	NandH Work programmesept
	forwardplan


